
 
 

 

To: Members of the  
PUBLIC PROTECTION AND SAFETY POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 
 

 Councillor Alexa Michael (Chairman) 
Councillor Chris Pierce (Vice-Chairman) 

 Councillors Julian Benington, Kim Botting FRSA, David Cartwright QFSM, 
Mary Cooke, Hannah Gray, Tom Philpott and Richard Williams 
 

 
 Non-Voting Co-opted Members – 

 
 Katie Bacon, Bromley Youth Council 

Terry Belcher, Safer Neighbourhood Board 
Dr Robert Hadley, Bromley Federation of Residents Associations 
Alf Kennedy, Bromley Neighbourhood Watch 
 

 
 A meeting of the Public Protection and Safety Policy Development and Scrutiny 

Committee will be held at Bromley Civic Centre on TUESDAY 6 MARCH 2018 AT 
7.00 PM  

 
 MARK BOWEN 

Director of Corporate Services 
 

 

Copies of the documents referred to below can be obtained from 
 http://cds.bromley.gov.uk/ 

 
PART 1 AGENDA 
 
Note for Members: Members are reminded that officer contact details are shown on each 
report and Members are welcome to raise questions in advance of the meeting. 
 

 STANDARD ITEMS 

1    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS  
 

2    DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

3   QUESTIONS TO THE CHAIRMAN FROM COUNCILLORS AND MEMBERS OF THE 
PUBLIC  

 In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, questions to this Committee must be 
received in writing 4 working days before the date of the meeting.  Therefore please 
ensure questions are received by the Democratic Services Team by 5pm on 
Wednesday 28th February 2018. 

BROMLEY CIVIC CENTRE, STOCKWELL CLOSE, BROMLEY BRI 3UH 
 
TELEPHONE: 020 8464 3333  CONTACT: Steve Wood 

   stephen.wood@bromley.gov.uk 

    

DIRECT LINE: 020 8313 4316   

FAX: 020 8290 0608  DATE: 26 February 2018 

    

http://cds.bromley.gov.uk/


 
 

  

4    MINUTES OF THE PUBLIC PROTECTION AND SAFETY PDS COMMITTEE 
MEETING HELD ON 16TH JANUARY 2018 (Pages 1 - 16) 
 

5    MATTERS ARISING (Pages 17 - 20) 
 

6    CHAIRMAN'S UPDATE  
 

7    POLICE UPDATE  
 

8    PRESENTATION FROM BROMLEY YOUTH COUNCIL  
 

9    ADULTS WHO MISUSE DRUGS--THE FINDINGS OF A HEALTH NEEDS 
ASSESSMENT IN BROMLEY 2017 (Pages 21 - 104) 
 

10    PRESENTATION FROM THE LONDON AMBULANCE SERVICE  
 

11    PRESENTATION FROM SLAM  
 

 HOLDING THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER TO ACCOUNT 

12   QUESTIONS TO THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 
AND COUNCILLORS  

 In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, questions to this Committee must be 
received in writing 4 working days before the date of the meeting.  Therefore please 
ensure questions are received by the Democratic Services Team by 5pm on February 
28th 2018.  
  

13    PORTFOLIO HOLDER UPDATE  
 

14   PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY OF PORTFOLIO HOLDER REPORTS  
 

 Portfolio Holder decisions for pre-decision scrutiny. 
  

a    CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING--3RD QUARTER 2017/18 & 
CAPITAL STRATEGY 2018 TO 2022 (Pages 105 - 110) 
 

b    BUDGET MONITORING (Pages 111 - 116) 
 

c    PREVENT UPDATE REPORT (Pages 117 - 122) 
 

15    PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY OF REPORTS TO THE EXECUTIVE  
 

a    ASSET RECOVERY INCENTIVISATION SCHEME   (ARIS) (Pages 123 - 
128) 
 

 POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND OTHER ITEMS 



 
 

16    WORK PROGRAMME (Pages 129 - 134) 
 

17   LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 AS AMENDED BY THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
(ACCESS TO INFORMATION) (VARIATION) ORDER 2006 AND THE FREEDOM 
OF INFORMATION ACT 2000  
 

 The Chairman to move that the Press and public be excluded during consideration of 
the items of business listed below as it is likely in view of the nature of the business to 
be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that if members of the Press and public 
were present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information.  

  
 

Items of Business Schedule 12A Description 

18   PART 2 VERBAL UPDATE ON THE PREVENT 
PROGRAMME  
 

Information relating to any 
individual.  
Information which is likely to 
reveal the identity of an 
individual.  
Any action taken or to be taken 
in connection with the 
prevention, investigation or 
prosecution of crime.  
Information which is subject to 
any obligation of confidentiality.  
Information which relates in any 
way to matters concerning 
national security.  

19    AOB  
 

20   DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING  
 

 The date of the next meeting has been confirmed as Tuesday 3rd July 2018. 
  

  



This page is left intentionally blank



1 
 

PUBLIC PROTECTION AND SAFETY POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
Minutes of the meeting held at 7.00 pm on 16 January 2018 

 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor Alexa Michael (Chairman) 
Councillor Chris Pierce (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillors Vanessa Allen, Julian Benington, 
David Cartwright QFSM, Mary Cooke, Hannah Gray, 
Tony Owen and Tom Philpott 
 

 
Katie Bacon and Terry Belcher 
 

 
Also Present: 

 
Laurie Grasty, Dan Jones, Paul Lehane, Councillor Kate 
Lymer, Katie Nash, Sophie Olive, Rob Vale and Paul 
Warnett 
 

 
STANDARD ITEMS 
 
54   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NOTIFICATION OF 

SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS 
 
Apologies were received from Councillor Richard Williams. Councillor 
Vanessa Allen attended as substitute.   
 
Apologies were received from Councillor Kim Botting, and Councillor Tony 
Owen attended as substitute. 
 
Apologies were also received from Dr Robert Hadley, and Alf Kennedy. 
 
Apologies were received from the Executive Director of Environmental and 
Community Services, and the Director for Environment acted as substitute. 
 
Apologies were also received from the Borough Commander and Detective 

Superintendent Paul Warnett acted as substitute. 

 
55   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
Councillor David Cartwright declared an interest as he was listed as a director 
of Operational Assurance Ltd, a company which undertook independent 
auditing of emergency planning systems and structures for local authorities. 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Public Protection and Safety Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
16 January 2018 
 

2 

56   QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS OR MEMBERS OF THE 
PUBLIC 

 
There were no questions from Councillors or Members of the Public. 
 
57   MINUTES OF THE PUBLIC PROTECTION AND SAFETY PDS 

COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON 21st NOVEMBER 2017 
 
The Committee considered the minutes of the meeting of the Public 
Protection and Safety PDS Committee held on 21st November 2017. 
 
The Chairman referred to minute 43, which was in respect of the minute 
pertaining to the presentation from the London Fire Brigade. The last 
sentence in paragraph 16 read as follows: ‘If you were working in an office 
environment, you were normally encouraged to evacuate the building in an 
orderly and swift manner’.   
 
The Chairman asked that the word ‘encouraged’ be replaced with ‘told’. With 
this amendment noted, the minutes were agreed and signed as a correct 
record. 
 
58   MATTERS ARISING 
 
CSD 18004 
 
The Matters Arising report was noted and members considered the progress 
that had been made with respect to matters that had arisen at previous 
meetings.  
 
It was noted that the Portfolio Holder had drafted a joint letter with LB Sutton 
to express concerns over the BCU tri-borough amalgamation between 
Croydon, Bromley, and Sutton. The Committee was informed that no 
response had been received to the letter. The Portfolio Holder had also 
emailed her counterparts in boroughs where the BCU trials had taken place, 
to find out if the trials had been successful.  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Public Protection and Safety had emailed her 
counterpart at Havering, but had not received a reply. 
 
The Portfolio Holder for Public Protection and Safety had emailed her 
counterpart at Redbridge, but a response had not been received.  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Public Protection and Safety had emailed her 
counterpart at Barking & Dagenham, but had not received a response.  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Public Protection and Safety emailed the 
Conservative Group Opposition Leader for Redbridge, and a response had 
been received as outlined below:   
 

Page 2



Public Protection and Safety Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
16 January 2018 

 

3 
 

‘The Tri Borough BCU has been a failure in our view.  In the first few weeks 
response times fell through the floor, and breached Met and HO guidelines.  
As a result they were forced to abandon the tri borough approach and divide 
the three boroughs in two "areas". Response times are still inadequate. 
 
We are also unhappy with the command structure.  Our nominal Tri Borough 
commander is based in Romford.  We had huge difficulty getting him to take a 
series of violent and disruptive traveller incursions seriously.  This led to huge 
clean-up costs. 
 
I can think of no positives. 
 
Based on our experience I could not recommend the Tri Borough approach.’ 
 
The Chairman suggested that the Leader of the Council write a letter to the 
Mayor for London to reinforce LBB’s opposition to the tri-borough BCU being 
proposed for Bromley, Croydon and Sutton. The letter could highlight the 
failings shown in the boroughs where the trials had taken place. The 
Committee agreed with this suggestion. The letter would be addressed to 
Sadiq Khan and Sophie Lindon would be copied in. 
 
A Member noted the mention of ‘Travellers’ in the response from the 
Conservative Group Opposition Leader for Redbridge. He mentioned that 
Croydon had recently had to deal with an incursion onto Shirley Park Golf 
Club by Travellers, and expressed the view that the response from Croydon 
Police was lacking. He hoped that going forward, the response from Bromley 
Police to incursions from Travellers would continue to be robust. 
 
RESOLVED that the Leader of the Council be requested to write to the 
Mayor for London to express LBB’s ongoing concerns related to the 
proposed tri-borough BCU merge between Croydon, Bromley and 
Sutton.    
 
59   CHAIRMAN'S UPDATE 
 
The Chairman informed the Committee that she would be attending a visit to 
Victim Support’s Head Office in London on January 22nd. 
 
The Chairman attended the extended Corporate Leadership Team / Cabinet 
meeting at Bromley Civic Centre on Friday 15th December. 
 
60   POLICE UPDATE 
 
The Police update was provided by the Deputy Borough Commander, 
Detective Superintendent Paul Warnett. 
 
Concerning a comment made previously by a Member with respect to night 
time economy statistics, Mr Warnett stated that it was not a problem for him to 
provide the night time economy statistics if they were still required.  
 

Page 3



Public Protection and Safety Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
16 January 2018 
 

4 

The Committee was updated with respect to the proposed BCU merger with 
Croydon, Sutton and Bromley. It was noted that the new BCU Commander 
would be Chief Superintendent Jeff Booth who was currently the Borough 
Commander at LB Croydon.  Despite the fact that various local authorities had 
raised objections and concerns about the BCU amalgamations, the BCUs 
would be going ahead. The London Borough of Kensington and Chelsea had 
written a letter of objection, and they were informed that the matter was a 
Police decision rather than a political one.  
 
The Chairman asked Mr Warnett if he was familiar with the disturbing reports 
emanating from the BCU trials. He responded that it was the case that first 
response rates had fallen, and that there had been some infrastructure 
problems. Lessons would be learnt from the trials, and the 12 BCUs would not 
all be operating the same model. 
 
The BCU would have 5 Functional Superintendents that would cover : 
 

a) Emergency Response 
b) Partnership 
c) Investigation 
d) Safeguarding  
e) Neighbourhood Policing 

 
The Committee heard that the current Borough Commander would be leaving 
in two weeks, but no further details on his posting were mentioned. 
 
The Tri-Borough amalgamation for Croydon, Sutton and Bromley was 
expected to go live in either late summer or early autumn. The Chairman 
expressed concern that geographical factors had not been given proper 
consideration.  
 
Crime had increased in most areas, particularly robbery, burglary and the use 
of violence. The increased figures for robbery were partly related to an 
increase in moped crime. The number of reported burglary offences had 
increased because this also now included break-ins to out buildings. A 
Member asked if going forward the burglary statistics could be split to 
distinguish between the burglaries of houses and outbuildings.  
 
A Member requested if he could be sent performance data with respect to 
ASB. The Chairman referred to the previous emphasis that had been given to 
‘MOPAC 7’ crime areas, and expressed concern that some of these areas 
may no longer be a priority for the Police. Mr Warnett explained that the 
Police would still be responding to these crimes, but that it would not be the 
total focus like it was previously.    
 
The Committee was briefed with respect to the three murders that had 
occurred over the last three months. A number of suspects had originally 
been charged with respect to the murder of Michael Jonas in Betts Park. 
However, the case had just been discontinued and the suspects had been 
released.  

Page 4



Public Protection and Safety Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
16 January 2018 

 

5 
 

A suspect had been charged with respect to the Knockholt Train Station 
murder case where a person had been chased onto the tracks and stabbed. 
There had also been a murder committed at Empress Drive in Chislehurst, a 
suspect had been arrested, and then interviewed and bailed pending further 
investigation.  
 
Mr Warnett appraised Committee members with respect to staffing issues. 
Two detectives had been sent to assist with Operation Northleigh, which was 
part of the Grenfell investigation. On the day of the PPS/PDS Committee 
meeting, Mr Warnett had been informed that he needed to provide another 
seven officers to the Sexual Assault Command to help with reviewing 600 
cases of serious sexual assault that contained digital media, to ensure that no 
further cases were discontinued by the CPS. 
 
The Bromley fleet of cars had been reduced by 5 in recent weeks; over 170 
cars MET wide had been taken out of service. Some cars had done high 
mileage and needed frequent servicing.  
 
Mr Warnett advised the Committee that when he had taken up post in 
Bromley, he had reviewed the figures relating to the use of stop and search, 
and he had noticed that stop and search had been used infrequently. After 
giving staff extra training, and providing re-assurances with respect to 
complaints, the use of stop and search had increased. A new Tasking Team 
had been set up to deal with gangs and serious youth violence.               
 
A Co-opted Member asked why Bromley Police would be losing 5 vehicles. Mr 
Warnett explained that a decision had been made that the vehicles were no 
longer required. Another issue that the Police were thinking about was 
whether or not two officers were required in each Police vehicle. The Co-
opted Member continued by stating that losing vehicles must have an effect. 
Mr Warnett responded that Bromley Police still had the use of 36 vehicles 
which was sufficient. If vehicles were not required then that would be a drain 
on the public purse, and the Police were seeking to eliminate waste. He 
assured that going forward there would be individual patrol vehicles assigned 
to individual dispatches, and that there would be no reduction in frontline staff.  
 
A Member asked about ward teams and ward bases. Mr Warnett explained 
that all ward bases would be going in due course. As part of the new model it 
was intended that all ward officers would be located within 20 minutes walking 
time from the ward; they may not be based on the ward itself. A Member 
asked how police cars were dispatched, and it was explained that they were 
sent out by a central dispatch unit; infrequently a call could be picked up by a 
car directly.   
 
Police officers in dispatch cars occasionally did not come back into the office 
all day. Calls would be risk assessed as part of the dispatch process--as 
resources were limited. Croydon had extra resources and this would not 
change. It was agreed that performance data would be reported back to the 
Committee at future meetings.  
 

Page 5



Public Protection and Safety Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
16 January 2018 
 

6 

Finally, Mr Warnett mentioned the recent problems with respect to Carillion as 
they were responsible for the management of the building used by Bromley 
Police at Bromley South. The Committee was pleased to hear that the 
building remained unaffected.   
 
RESOLVED that: 
 
1) Performance data relating to the response to emergency calls is 
reported back to future Committee meetings. 
 
2) Performance data relating to ASB is provided to Councillor David 
Cartwright. 
 
3) In the future, burglary statistics should be split to distinguish between 
the burglaries of houses and the burglary of outbuildings.  
 
HOLDING THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER TO ACCOUNT 
 
61   PORTFOLIO HOLDER UPDATE 
 
The Portfolio Holder for Public Protection and Safety (Councillor Kate Lymer) 
informed the Committee that she had sent a letter to Sophie Lindon on 11th 
December 2017 concerning the proposed tri-borough BCU amalgamation of 
Croydon, Bromley and Sutton. No response had been received despite a 
chaser email.  
 
The Portfolio Holder had recently attended the following: 
 

 A meeting of the ‘Gold’ group 

 Two public Council meetings 

 Bromley Youth Council Executive meetings 

 The VAWG Forum 

 A meeting of the Safer Bromley Partnership on December 19th 

 A Safer Neighbourhood Board public meeting 

 A visit to Biggin Hill Fire Station  
 
Members of the LFB at Biggin Hill had come across an elderly gentleman who 
had been living in squalid conditions with no heating or support. The fire 
brigade tidied his place up, and brought him 2 heaters; going forward they 
planned to keep an eye on him to make sure he was ok. 
 
The following week the Portfolio Holder would be attending a meeting of the 
Children’s Services Governance Board, and the Bromley Mentoring Steering 
Group.  
 
The Portfolio Holder informed the Committee that new laws were being 
brought in concerning letting agencies and estate agents, and these would 
need to be added to the Work Programme. 
 

Page 6



Public Protection and Safety Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
16 January 2018 

 

7 
 

The Portfolio Holder expressed her thanks to Paul Lehane who was due to 
retire in April 2018. 
 
Recruitment was underway for the post of Assistant Director for Public 
Protection and Safety. In the meantime there may be a requirement for an 
interim manager.    
 
62   PRESENTATION ON TOWN CENTRE POLICING AND PUBLIC 

SAFETY, INCLUDING THE NIGHT TIME ECONOMY 
 
The presentation was given by Sergeant Paul Thomas, from the Bromley 
North Safer Neighbourhood Team. 
 
Sergeant Thomas commenced by outlining some of the main changes that 
had occurred during 2017: 
 

 Policing Numbers had reduced 

 The Mayor’s directive of maintaining two District Ward Officers per 
ward had been achieved earlier than planned 

 Uncertainty with respect to the BCU trials and whether or not this would 
affect Safer Neighbourhood Team base closures 

 Disruption caused by Grenfell and terrorist attacks 

 Increased focus on Safeguarding and Child Sexual exploitation. 
 
Sergeant Thomas explained that both the Town Centre Teams for Bromley 
and Orpington had been maintained. Good relationships had been developed 
with both BIDs. In December, a funding stream had been negotiated with the 
Bromley BID that had allowed extra patrols in Bromley Town throughout the 
Christmas period.  
 
The Safer Neighbourhood Teams had been monitoring the potential BID in 
Beckenham and Penge, and would be looking to develop positive 
relationships with the BID should the vote be positive.       
 
Data was presented concerning the number of notifiable offences for Bromley 
during December 2017. The total number of offences that were notified was 
206 during that period. The highest percentage of these offences (100) 
related to theft and the handling of stolen goods. Sixty four of the theft 
offences were for shoplifting. The second highest percentage of offences 
pertained to violence against the person where 67 offences had been 
recorded.   
 
The Committee was updated concerning the night time economy for 
Beckenham and Bromley. Much work had been undertaken to review licenses 
of various premises. The Tasking Team had been lost and so consideration 
had to be given concerning how to manage the DWO shift patterns. 
Representations had been made centrally and now a new shift pattern had 
been established which meant that the Police were patrolling on Friday and 
Saturday evenings until 4am. 

Page 7



Public Protection and Safety Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
16 January 2018 
 

8 

 
A new tactical plan was being developed in line with the new shift pattern, the 
new tactical plan was referred to as ‘Operation Resolve’. This would be aimed 
at the night time economy issues of ASB and Crime, particularly violence with 
injury. Part of the plan was to renew the working relationships with partners 
like security guards and street ambassadors. As the England football team 
had qualified for the World Cup, a tactical plan to deal with this would need to 
be developed. The Chairman wondered what the relationship was between 
the high number of violent offences against the person, and the consumption 
of alcohol.  
 
A Member commented that when Jonathan Booth had been the local Police 
officer assigned to dealing with licensing issues, he had received regular 
reports concerning crime committed in the night time economy. He stated that 
this was no longer the case. He noted that several key premises including O 
Neil’s, Vu Vu and Bar Du Vin had been granted extensions to their licenses, 
and that these were all in close proximity geographically. He expressed the 
view that the relevant statistics were required so that night time economy 
violence could be tracked to the relevant premises. He felt that an obligation 
existed to the Police to ascertain if LBB had granted extensions on licensing 
applications that had subsequently led to an increase in violence. Mention 
was also made of the increased pressure on NHS resources exerted due to 
increases in alcohol fuelled violence.   
 
The Committee agreed that it would be a good idea if another joint meeting 
could be held between the Public Protection PDS Committee, and GP&L to 
discuss the problem and seek solutions. 
 
A Member enquired if there was a definition of ‘night time economy’? 
Sergeant Thomas said that the definition had been subject to change; in 
terms of time, the night time economy was generally regarded as referring to 
a time period commencing at 9pm, and ending at 4am. 
   
RESOLVED that a joint meeting be held with the GP&L Committee to 
discuss problems in the night time economy relating to licensing and 
alcohol related ASB and violence.        
     
63   PRESENTATION FROM LONDON PROBATION SERVICES 
 
A PowerPoint presentation was given by Katie Nash (Interim Head of the 
National Probation Service for Bexley, Bromley and Greenwich). 
 
Ms Nash commenced by briefing the Committee on the history of the 
Probation Service. It was noted that the Probation Trusts split on 01/06/2014 
to form the National Probation Service and the Community Rehabilitation 
Company. The Committee was provided with statistics related prisoners, 
offenders, offenders on probation, and offenders recalled to prison.  
 
In terms of re-offending rates, the National Probation Service re-offending rate 
for London was 37%, compared with 44% for the CRC.     

Page 8



Public Protection and Safety Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
16 January 2018 

 

9 
 

 
It was explained that the main legislation that influenced the work of NPS 
London was the Criminal Justice Act 2003, and the Offender Rehabilitation 
Act 2014.     
 
Each NPS Service User had a Risk Assessment Plan that consisted of the 
following elements: 
 

• Other agencies involved 
• Existing support and control 
• Added measures for specific risks 
• Undertake actions 
• Additional conditions 
• Level of contact 
• Contingency 

 
Ms Nash updated the Committee with the results of a recent HMIP inspection: 
 

• Overall, the quality of NPS public protection work was good. 
Assessments focused on the right issues and informed good planning.  

• However, timely information on child and adult safeguarding was often 
not available, and some staff lacked relevant training. Information was 
exchanged well with the police. Staff did not always review plans to 
reflect changes or progress.  

• Sound arrangements were in place to address the risk of involvement 
in terrorism, organised crime and gangs, which were additional 
complexities for offender management in London.  

• Overall, managers had a sound appreciation of what needed to 
improve.  

• Access to suitable accommodation was difficult.  
• There was effective communication with mental health, drug and 

alcohol services, and with employment, education and training 
partners.  

• Bespoke services for women were poor.  
• Reviews were not carried out reliably and service users were not 

involved often enough in planning or reviewing the work they were 
required to do 

 
A Member asked if the re-offending rates were increasing, and the answer to 
this was no, they had remained static. 
 
A Member asked how the NPS worked with the Youth Offending Service, and 
what was the current position with regard to Community Service. Ms Nash 
informed the Committee that a part time person had been appointed to work 
with the YOS. The purpose of this was to manage the transition from the YOS 
to the Probation Service. It was clarified that ‘Community Service’ had now 
changed to ‘Community Payback’ and this fell within the remit of CRC.   
 
 
 

Page 9



Public Protection and Safety Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
16 January 2018 
 

10 

a CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING REPORT  
 
FSD 18004 
 
The Committee was presented with a Capital Programme Monitoring report 
for the second quarter of 2017/18. 
 
The report had been drafted by James Mullender, Principal Accountant. 
 
The Portfolio Holder was requested to note and confirm the changes agreed 
by the Executive on 6th December 2017.   
 
The report showed that £13k had been allocated to the budget for CCTV 
control room refurbishment. The accounts showed a credit balance of £34k as 
a sum of retention had been applied as the new system would need to run 
successfully for 12 months before final payment would be applied. 
 
RESOLVED that the Portfolio Holder agree and confirm the changes 
agreed by the Executive on 6th December 2017.   
 

b DRAFT 2018/19 BUDGET  
 
FSD 18008 
 
The Draft 2018/19 Budget report was written by Claire Martin—Head of 
Finance. 
 
Members were requested to consider the initial draft budget proposed and 
identify any further action that might be taken to reduce cost pressures facing 
the Council over the next four years. 
 
Executive were requesting that each PDS Committee consider the proposed 
initial draft budget savings and cost pressures for their Portfolio and that the 
views of each PDS Committee be reported back to the next meeting of the 
Executive, prior to the Executive making the recommendations to Council on 
2018/19 Council Tax levels.   
 
The Committee was being asked to consider the update on the financial 
forecast for 2018/19 to 2021/22, and also to consider the initial draft 2018/19 
Budget as a basis for setting the 2018/19 Budget. The Committee was also 
being asked to provide comments on the initial draft 2018/19 Budget for the 
February meeting of the Executive. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
1-The update on the financial forecast for 2018/19 to 2021/22 be noted 
 
2- The initial draft budget is agreed as the basis for the setting of the 
2018/19 budget.   
 

Page 10



Public Protection and Safety Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
16 January 2018 

 

11 
 

64   EMERGENCY PLANNING AND BUSINESS CONTINUITY 
SERVICE UPDATE REPORT 

 
ES 18005 
 
The report dealing with the Emergency Planning and Business Continuity 
Service Update was drafted by Paul Lehane (Head of Food Safety, 
Occupational Safety and Licensing). The update on the night was presented 
jointly by Mr Lehane and Laurie Grasty-- Emergency Planning and Corporate 
Resilience Manager.  
 
The report had been written to update Members on the Emergency Planning 
and Business Continuity Service following an earlier report to the Committee 
on 18th January 2017. The previous report had highlighted the limited 
resources allocated to the function and the need to review the Council’s 
business continuity arrangements. 
 
Members were asked to note and comment on the report. 
 
Mr Lehane stated that since the previous report, LBB was in a better place 
with respect to Business Continuity and Emergency Planning, and that much 
had been learned. LBB had provided assistance to the Royal Borough of 
Kensington and Chelsea after the Grenfell Tower fire, and Ms Grasty had 
grown into her role as Emergency Planning and Corporate Resilience 
Manager. She was being assisted in this role by Sophie Olive, who was 
previously a graduate intern, but who was now employed on a full time 
temporary basis as Business Continuity Officer. 
 
Mr Lehane said that a number of Bromley staff had volunteered to provide 
assistance with Ms Grasty at the West Way Assistance Centre, and that it 
was an awful experience and very stressful. The Grenfell incident had shown 
how a Council’s reputation could be destroyed with just one event where there 
was an inadequate response.  
 
Recruitment had been undertaken for volunteers to help if an incident 
occurred; training was ongoing and crucial. The BRF (Bromley Resilience 
Forum) would co-ordinate local responses and would be chaired by the Chief 
Executive and by the Executive Director for Environmental and Community 
Services. The BRF is a multiagency forum that meets 3 times a year to 
ensure that known risks can be planned, and trained for in the borough with 
relevant training exercises. 
 
The Chairman referred to section 3.12 of the report that outlined a series of 
exercises that had been undertaken to assess LBB’s practical ability to 
respond to incidents. She asked how the exercises went and what was learnt. 
Ms Grasty explained that one of the exercises had been run directly by LBB, 
and that was the table top exercise to set up and run a rest centre. LBB had 
been participants at the other exercises. Subsequent to each exercise, a 
debriefing report was produced, and any lessons learnt were incorporated into 
LBB’s emergency planning documentation.       

Page 11



Public Protection and Safety Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
16 January 2018 
 

12 

 
A Member asked if training was undertaken with the local emergency services 
and with other boroughs. Ms Grasty explained that London Resilience co-
ordinated pan London exercises for all 33 London boroughs. Some joint 
borough training was undertaken for standardisation.  
 
A Member asked if there was an incident that LBB would not be able to deal 
with. Mr Lehane responded that it was unlikely that any local authority would 
be able to respond to an incident of the magnitude of Grenfell. It was also 
asked if LBB liaised with GPs or the PRUH with respect to a possible flu 
pandemic. It was noted that a representative from Public Health and NHS 
England sat on the BRF. 
 
A Member asked Ms Grasty what was the most serious incident that she had 
been involved in, and the response to this was that it was the Grenfell Tower 
fire. The most serious local event was probably the previous gas leak in 
Penge. Ms Grasty continued by emphasising that LBB needed the practical 
capability to respond, and that volunteers needed training and to feel valued.        
 
It was noted that every Chief Executive in London would be on call for two 
weeks throughout the year to Chair the LLAG (London Local Authority Gold 
Command) if required. 
 
The Committee noted that other boroughs still employed more resilience staff 
than LBB. A Member stated that the report was an important one, and it was 
clear that the department had progressed since last time. It was noted that the 
mechanisms used for emergency planning and business continuity were 
similar, as were the skill sets. 
 
A Member asked if a volunteer rota existed that could be used to assess the 
number of volunteers available at any given time. Ms Grasty assured that she 
had a large number of volunteers that could be called upon at any time, and 
that many of these had assisted at Grenfell. The only person that was formally 
on call was the Emergency Planning Manager. 
 
Councillor Cartwright had several other questions that he wanted to ask. As 
time was getting on, it was agreed that he would email the questions directly 
to Ms Grasty.      
 
Post Meeting Note: 
 
The questions were emailed to Ms Grasty on January 17th 2018. 
 
RESOLVED that the Emergency Planning and Business Continuity 
report be noted.                           
 
65   VERBAL UPDATE ON CRIME AND DISORDER IN THE NIGHT 

TIME ECONOMY 
 

 

Page 12



Public Protection and Safety Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
16 January 2018 

 

13 
 

The verbal update on Crime and Dis-Order in the night time economy was 
provided by Mr Paul Lehane. Mr Lehane informed the Committee that he had 
attempted to interrogate the Metropolitan Police crime statistics from the 
‘London Safe Stats’ website. The data from the London Ambulance Service 
and the British Transport Police was capable of being analysed by ‘time of 
day’ but the Metropolitan Police data was not. Mr Lehane offered to look at 
data pertaining to hospital admissions at the PRUH and analyse that if 
required. 
 
Mr Lehane informed the Committee that Mr David Ray had been recruited to 
replace a Licensing Officer that had recently left to work at another local 
authority. Mr Ray was a former Police officer. Mr Ray had recently been in 
attendance at a hairdressers’ when a customer collapsed. He resuscitated the 
customer, and waited for the LAS to arrive.  
 
Mr Lehane provided a brief update concerning the Purple Flag that had been 
awarded to Beckenham Town Centre, and informed the Committee that the 
next Purple Flag inspection was due in June. It was anticipated that the BID 
would lead on the Purple Flag going forward. LBB Licensing would be looking 
to provide safeguarding training in partnership with the Police for clubs and 
pubs, so that vulnerable clients would be looked after. Training would also be 
considered with respect to acid attacks.    
 
Mr Lehane updated the Committee with a brief history of licensing 
applications with respect to 210 High Street Beckenham. An appeal against 
the variation of the licence was being launched in the magistrates’ court, and 
the matter was due in court the day following the Committee meeting to set a 
date for the full appeal.      
 
Mr Lehane informed the Committee that the Mayor of London had established 
the Night Time Commission to give him independent advice on London at 
night. By this was meant all activities between 6pm and 6am, across the 
whole of London. The interest was not just in commercial operations like pubs 
and restaurants. The Mayor was equally interested in services, retail and 
leisure, the experience of London night workers and the ability of all 
Londoners to use and enjoy streets, public spaces and transport networks 
safely at night. 
 
Post meeting note: 
 
Details of the consultation questions and how to respond were subsequently 
emailed through by the Portfolio Holder for Members’ attention. 
 
A Member asked if taxi marshals still operated. It was confirmed that taxi 
marshals still operated and that they exercised a calming effect.   
 
66   MOPAC UPDATE REPORT 
 
ES 18006 

Page 13



Public Protection and Safety Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
16 January 2018 
 

14 

The MOPAC update report was written and presented by Rob Vale (Head of 
Trading Standards and Community Safety). The report was presented to 
update the Public Protection and Safety Policy Development and Scrutiny 
Committee on the London Crime Prevention Fund (LCPF) granted by the 
Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC), in particular the impact the 
reduction in the grant would have on each service.  
 
Members of the Committee were asked to note and comment on the report.  
 
Members noted the table in section 3.2 of the report which detailed how the 
LCPF funding had been allocated over 4 project areas between 2017/2018 
and 2018/2019. The 4 funding areas were: 
 

 VAWG 

 IOM 

 Mentoring Young People 

 ASB and Noise 
 
The total funding allocation over the two years was £643,430. 
 
The funding for VAWG had remained more or less constant for 2018/19, and 
so this service would continue as normal for the next financial year. However 
there was no guarantee that MOPAC would provide the same level of funding 
for years 3 and 4, which could put the services at risk. Alternate sources of 
funding should be considered going forward.  
 
There was no change in services or funding for year 2 with respect to IOM, 
and so this service would continue as normal for the next financial year. 
 
It was anticipated that there would be a funding shortfall with respect to year 2 
for the mentoring of young people. The funding shortfall was £17,536 and 
alternative sources of funding were being explored. In year 2 there would be a 
shortfall in funding of £5k for the ASB Co-ordinator post. This would be met 
from the Community Safety budget for 2018/19. 
 
Mr Vale stated that officers were waiting from further information from 
MOPAC to see how these services would be funded for years three and four. 
A report would be drafted for a future meeting in either June or July 2018 
when an update on the budget would be provided. It may also be the case 
that at the end of years 3-4, the funding could reduce further, and so long 
term resolutions to the funding issues should be considered.      
 
The Chairman acknowledged the importance of all of the various projects, and 
hoped that funding could be sourced so that all of the projects could be fully 
maintained. 
 
RESOLVED that an updated MOPAC funding report be presented to the 
Committee in July 2018.   
 
 

Page 14



Public Protection and Safety Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
16 January 2018 

 

15 
 

67   CONTRACTS REGISTER REPORT 
 
ES18012 
 
The Contracts Register report was written by Dan Jones, Director of 
Environment. 
 
The report presented an extract from the November 2017 Contracts Register 
for detailed scrutiny. The Committee was asked to review the contracts 
register, and to note that the part 2 version of the register contained 
information in its commentary that may be commercially sensitive. 
 
Where contracts were red-flagged, it did not necessarily mean that any 
problems existed with the contracts, it could also just mean that a particular 
action was required.   
 
The Committee noted that the Council had 230 active contracts with a total 
contract value greater than £50k. There were six contracts noted in the report 
which were: 
 

 The Mortuary Contract 

 The Contract for the Coroner’s Service 

 CCTV Monitoring 

 Dog Collection and Transportation 

 CCTV Repair and Maintenance 

 Domestic Abuse Advocacy Project 
 
The Committee heard that with respect to the mortuary contract, LBB had to 
contribute as part of a tri-borough agreement, and arrangements were being 
finalised with Croydon.   
 
The Director for Environment informed the Committee that the CCTV 
contracts had now been extended to March 2019. The Dogs contract had also 
been extended. It was clarified that the Coroner’s Office was no longer based 
at LBB, but had been re-located to purpose built offices in Croydon.    
 
68   WORK PROGRAMME 
 
CSD 18005 
 
Members noted the Work Programme report and that an updated MOPAC 
report would be brought to the PDS Committee in July 2018. 
 
69   MEMBER VISITS 
 
It was noted that Members were visiting the Victim Support headquarters at 
Hannibal House on Monday January 22nd. 
 

Page 15



Public Protection and Safety Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
16 January 2018 
 

16 

The Chairman asked if any Committee members would be interested in 
attending a Community Impact Day. 
 
It was agreed that the details of future Community Impact Days would be sent 
to the Committee Secretary who would then disseminate them to Committee 
members. 
 
Post Meeting Note: 
 
Details of future dates and locations for Community Impact Days have been 
disseminated to Committee members.    
 
70   ANY OTHER BUSINESS 
 
No other business was considered. 
 
71   LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 AS AMENDED BY THE 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) 
(VARIATION) ORDER 2006 AND THE FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION ACT 2000 
 

72   PART 2 CONTRACTS REGISTER 
 
The commentary that accompanied the part 2 copies of the Contracts 
Register was noted. 
 
73   DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING 
 
The date of the next meeting was confirmed at 6th March 2018. 
 
 
The Meeting ended at 9.25 pm 
 
 
 

Chairman 
 

Page 16



  

1 

Report No. 
CSD 18043 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 
 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: Public Protection and Safety PDS Committee 

Date:  6th March 2018 

Decision Type: Non Urgent Non Executive Non Key 

Title: MATTERS ARISING 

Contact Officer: Steve Wood, Democratic Services Officer 
Tel: 020 8313 4316   E-mail:  stephen.wood@bromley.gov.uk 

Chief Officer: Mark Bowen, Director of Corporate Services 

Ward: N/A 

 
1. Reason for report 

1.1 Appendix A updates Members on matters arising from previous meetings. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 The Committee is asked to review progress on matters arising from previous meetings.  

 

Non-Applicable Sections: Policy/Financial/Legal/Personnel 

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact 
Officer) 

Previous Matters Arising reports and Minutes of meetings. 
Previous Agenda Document. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



  

2 

Corporate Policy 
 
1.    Policy Status: Existing Policy 
 

2. BBB Priority: Safe Bromley 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: No Cost  
 

2. Ongoing costs: Not Applicable 
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: Democratic Services 
 

4. Total current budget for this head:  £343,810 
 

5. Source of funding:  2017/18 revenue budget 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Staff 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional):  8 posts (6.87fte) 
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: Completion of “Matters Arising” Reports 
for PP&S PDS meetings can take up to a few hours per meeting.  

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: None 
 

2. Call-in: Not Applicable 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): This report is intended 
primarily for Members of the Public Protection and Safety PDS Committee.   

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments?  Not Applicable 
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:  N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



  

3 

Appendix A 

Minute 
Number/Title  
 

Matters Arising Update 
 

Minute 46 
21/11/17 
 
Prevent Update  

Resolved that the Prevent update be 
noted and that Mr Vale update the 
Committee further with a formal report 
in the New Year. 

An update report will be presented at 
the PPS/PDS meeting on 6th March. 

Minute 58 
16/01/18 
 
Matters Arising 

It was resolved that the Leader of the 
Council be requested to write to the 
Mayor for London to express LBB’s 
ongoing concerns related to the 
proposed tri-borough BCU merge 
between Croydon, Bromley and 
Sutton.    

The letter was drafted and sent. 
 
Chief Superintendent Chris Hafford 
recently informed all councillors that 
the South Area BCU had been 
implemented with effect from 12th 
February 2018.  
 
As from 19th March 2018, Chief 
Superintendent Jeff Boothe would be 
taking on the role of the BCU 
Commander.  

Minute 60 
16/01/18 
 
Police Update 

A Member asked if going forward the 
burglary statistics could be split to 
distinguish between the burglaries of 
houses and outbuildings.  
 

The request has been made to 
Detective Superintendent Paul 
Warnett. 

 

Minute 60 
16/01/18 
 
Police Update 

Performance data relating to the 
response to emergency calls should be 
reported back to future Committee 
meetings. 

The request has been made to 
Detective Superintendent Paul 
Warnett. 

Minute 60 
16/01/18 
 
Police Update 

It was agreed that performance data 
relating to ASB should be provided to 
Councillor David Cartwright. 
 

It has been clarified that the ASB 
data required is with respect to all 
wards and Detective Superintendent 
Paul Warnett is dealing with the 
request.  

As this information is generally 
available on a borough level, an 
analyst has been requested to break 
it down to ward levels.  

Minute 62 
16/01/18 
 
Update on the 
Night Time 
Economy and 
Town Centre 
Policing. 

A Member commented that when 
Jonathan Booth had been the local 
Police officer assigned to dealing with 
licensing issues, he had received 
regular reports concerning crime 
committed in the night time economy. 
He stated that this was no longer the 
case. 

An update will be provided by Cllr 
Owen in due course. 

Minute 62 
16/01/18 
 
Update on the 
Night Time 
Economy and 

It was resolved that a joint meeting be 
held with the GP&L Committee to 
discuss problems in the night time 
economy relating to licensing and 
alcohol related ASB and violence.        
 

The Chairman has liaised with the 
Chairman of the GP&L Committee 
concerning this. It has been 
suggested that this should be held 
after the Local Elections and that it 
would make an excellent introduction 

Page 19



  

4 

Town Centre 
Policing. 

for a new GP&L Chairman early in 
the life of the new Council. 

 
 
 

Page 20



  

1 

Report No. 
ES18023 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 
 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: Public Protection and Safety Policy Development and Scrutiny 
Committee 

Date:  6TH March 2018 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 
 

Non-Executive 
 

Non-Key 
 

Title: ADULTS WHO MISUSE DRUGS - THE FINDINGS OF A HEALTH 
NEEDS ASSESSMENT IN BROMLEY 2017 
 

Contact Officer: Helen Buttivant, Consultant in Public Health  
Tel:  020 8461 7240   E-mail:  helen.buttivant@bromley.gov.uk 

Chief Officer: Dr Nada Lemic, Director of Public Health 

Ward: All Wards 

 
1. Reason for report 

1.1. This report provides a summary of the findings of a health needs assessment of the population 
of adults with problematic drug use in Bromley. 

 
1.2. It is submitted to the committee for information only. 
 
1.3. A full version of the report is attached as an appendix. 
 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 

The committee is asked to consider and comment on issues identified in the report. 

 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 9



  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 
1. Summary of Impact: Vulnerability in adults and children can be a risk factor for drug misuse and 

a consequence of illicit drug taking behaviour.    

________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Existing Policy   
 

2. BBB Priority: Children and Young People Quality Environment Safe Bromley Supporting 
Independence  

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: Not Applicable  
 

2. Ongoing costs: Not Applicable  
 

3. Budget head/performance centre:       
 

4. Total current budget for this head: £N/A 
 

5. Source of funding:       
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional):         
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours:         
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: None  
 

2. Call-in: Not Applicable   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications:        
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected):        
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Not Applicable  
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:        
 

Page 22



  

3 

3. COMMENTARY 

Executive Summary: 

3.1 Bromley has the 7th lowest estimated rate of Opiate and/or Crack use in the region and lower 
overall rates of drug use compared to the regional and national average. 

  
3.2 However the estimated consumption rate for Opiate and/or Crack use in young people in 

Bromley (age 15-24) is higher than the regional or national average. Rates of combined Opiate 
and/or Crack use are also rising in the older population (age 35-64).  

 
3.3 The rate of hospital admissions for substance misuse in young people in Bromley is significantly 

higher than the national and regional average. The rates for young people are increasing more 
steeply in Bromley than across London or England as a whole.  

 
3.4 Hospital admission rates for substance misuse in Bromley positively correlate with levels of 

socioeconomic deprivation. In contrast there is no observable link between drug-related death 
rates and deprivation in Bromley.  

 
3.5 The rate of drug-related deaths in Bromley is among the lowest in the region and lower than 

local authorities in the same socioeconomic deprivation bracket. There were a total of 50 drug-
related deaths in Bromley between 2012 and 2016. The average age at the time of death was 
47 years. 67% of local drug-related deaths were classified as accidental poisonings, compared 
to 55% nationally.  

 
3.6 Whilst the illicit use of drugs in Bromley is increasing, the number entering treatment is 

decreasing. Opiate users still dominate adult treatment, these clients generally face a more 
complex set of challenges and it is more challenging to achieve positive and sustainable 
outcomes.  

 
3.7 The estimated level of unmet need (those with problematic substance misuse but not currently 

in contact with treatment services) in Bromley is much higher than the England average. It is 
estimated that 63% of drug users in Bromley are not known to treatment services, ranking 
Bromley second highest in the region.  

 
3.8 Of those in contact with treatment services in Bromley nearly 50% of clients are age 40+; this is 

slightly higher than the national average. The age profile of clients newly presenting for 
treatment has also shifted to an older population.  

 
3.9 In 2016/17 there were 100 children known to be living with people misusing drugs in Bromley 

who had presented to substance misuse services for the first time in that period.  
 
3.10 The proportion of clients who engaged with treatment following referral from prison is lower in 

Bromley than the national average (29% compared to 33%).  
 

3.11 Bromley has a higher proportion (37%) of new clients presenting with a co-occurring mental 
health condition (dual diagnosis) compared to England (24%). Half of all women who present 
new to treatment, for non-opiate or non-opiate and alcohol misuse, have a co-occurring mental 
health condition. 
 
WHAT THIS MEANS FOR THE RESIDENTS OF BROMLEY: 

 
3.12 Substance misuse is a complex area. Individuals with substance misuse problems may also 

have other difficulties including; mental health problems, poverty, relationship issues, family 
breakdown, unemployment and involvement with the criminal justice system. In Bromley, there 

Page 23



  

4 

is also the challenge of an aging population of opiate users with multiple physical health 
problems and entrenched use.  

 
3.13 Bromley residents require specialist substance misuse services that can respond to the 

changing nature of substance misuse in the borough. The contract for existing substance 
misuse services for adults and young people in Bromley are due to expire later in 2018. A new 
service specification has been designed (incorporating the findings of this needs assessment) 
and new services will be commissioned to come into effect in December 2018.  

 
3.14 The new service will be presented with a number of local challenges to address including the 

following:  
 

 To increase numbers of individuals in treatment  

 To find innovative ways if working with older opiate users with more complex needs  

 To respond to the emerging needs of individuals using NPS and over the 
counter/prescribed medications  

 To develop strategies to prevent drug related deaths  

 To engage with problematic alcohol users who may be treatment naïve  

 To enhance partnership working with a view to understand the issues surrounding and 
ultimately address the needs for dual diagnosis clients and for reducing hospital admissions.  

 
3.15 A primary focus for the new service will be the identification and engagement of substance 

misusers. Partnership working with a range of key partners in the borough will be essential in 
supporting more individuals into treatment. This will include joint working with the Criminal 
Justice Services, Hospitals, London Borough of Bromley services including; Children’s Services, 
Community Health Services, the Voluntary Sector and Primary Care.  

 
3.16 Aftercare and reintegration has been cited as important for sustained recovery. The new service 

will offer wraparound support and on-going contact as well as pathways to specialist education, 
housing and employment support and advice.  

 
3.17 It is anticipated that the integrated treatment system will provide a holistic service to support 

successful and sustained recovery for those who misuse substances in Bromley. Improved 
partnership working and early identification and referral will improve outcomes and treatment 
completion rates. 

4. IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS AND CHILDREN  

4.1 Vulnerability in adults and children can be a risk factor for drug misuse and a consequence of 
illicit drug taking behaviour.   

4.2 In addition the association between social factors and illicit drug use is reciprocal; drug misuse 
can cause social disadvantage, and socio-economic disadvantage may lead to drug use and 
dependence.  

4.3 Substance misuse can reduce a parent's ability to provide care. The effects on the child can 
include neglect, educational problems, emotional difficulties and abuse.  Parental problem drug 
use has been shown to be one of the commonest reasons for children being received into the 
care system. 

 

Page 24



 

1 
 

 

      

 

 

Health Needs Assessment of Drug 

Misuse in Adults in Bromley 

2017 

 
Susan Mubiru – Senior Public Health Intelligence Analyst 

Helen Buttivant – Consultant in Public Health 

 

Bromley Public Health  

Education Care and Health Directorate  

London Borough of Bromley 

  

Page 25



 

2 
 

Table of Contents 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS ........................................................................................................................... 4 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ............................................................................................................................ 5 

INTRODUCTION ....................................................................................................................................... 7 

CAUSES AND PATTERNS OF DRUGS MISUSE ....................................................................................... 10 

EPIDEMIOLOGY OF DRUG MISUSE ........................................................................................................ 11 

Crime Survey for England and Wales ..................................................................................................... 11 

Prevalence Estimates- Bromley compared to region and nation ................................................................ 12 

Prevalence of over the counter and prescription only medication .............................................................. 19 

New Psychoactive Substances and Club Drugs ...................................................................................... 19 

Treatment population ............................................................................................................................ 21 

Not in treatment population ................................................................................................................... 31 

IMPACT ON HEALTH AND WELLBEING ................................................................................................... 33 

Mental health (dual diagnosis) ............................................................................................................... 33 

Morbidity: Blood Borne Infections .......................................................................................................... 37 

Hospital admissions ............................................................................................................................. 39 

Mortality .............................................................................................................................................. 44 

SOCIOECONOMIC IMPACT ..................................................................................................................... 51 

The social return on investment in local drug treatment services ............................................................... 51 

Crime .................................................................................................................................................. 52 

Health and Care Costs ......................................................................................................................... 52 

Children and families ............................................................................................................................ 53 

Social Services, Housing and Benefits ................................................................................................... 54 

THE TREATMENT AND MANAGEMENT OF DRUG MISUSE ..................................................................... 57 

Treatment services in Bromley .............................................................................................................. 60 

Treatment pathways ............................................................................................................................. 62 

Intervention Type and Setting Delivered ................................................................................................. 62 

Treatment outcomes ............................................................................................................................ 67 

Prison release and transfer to treatment ................................................................................................. 71 

Early unplanned exits ........................................................................................................................... 72 

Residential rehabilitation ....................................................................................................................... 72 

WHAT THIS MEANS FOR THE RESIDENTS OF BROMLEY ....................................................................... 73 

APPENDIX .............................................................................................................................................. 74 

Data sources and definitions ................................................................................................................. 74 

References .......................................................................................................................................... 76 

Page 26



 

3 
 

 

THIS PAGE HAS BEEN LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY   

Page 27



 

4 
 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 
 

Mark Bray     Senior Information Analyst NHS Digital  

Emma Burke   Programme Manager Alcohol and Drugs, PHE 

Jane Walker   Interim substance Misuse Programme Lead, LBB 

Mimi Morris Cotterill   Assistant Director of Public Health, LBB 

Dr Jenny Selway    Consultant in Public Health, LBB 

Dr Nada Lemic   Director of Public Health, LBB 

Helene Green   Clinical Data Administrator, CGL 

Lynda Gabriel    Chair, Healthwatch Bromley 

Zena Josiah   Commissioning Officer, LBB 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 28



 

5 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
 

Bromley has the 7th lowest estimated rate of Opiate and/or Crack use in the region and lower 

overall rates of drug use compared to the regional and national average.  

However the estimated consumption rate for Opiate and/or Crack use in young people in Bromley 

(age 15-24) is higher than the regional or national average. Rates of combined Opiate and/or Crack 

use are also rising in the older population (age 35-64). 

The rate of hospital admissions for substance misuse in young people in Bromley is significantly 

higher than the national and regional average. The rates for young people are increasing more 

steeply in Bromley than across London or England as a whole. 

Hospital admission rates for substance misuse in Bromley positively correlate with levels of 

socioeconomic deprivation. In contrast there is no observable link between drug-related death 

rates and deprivation in Bromley. 

The rate of drug-related deaths in Bromley is among the lowest in the region and lower than local 

authorities in the same socioeconomic deprivation bracket. There were a total of 50 drug-related 

deaths in Bromley between 2012 and 2016. The average age at the time of death was 47 years. 

67% of local drug-related deaths were classified as accidental poisonings, compared to 55% 

nationally. 

Whilst the illicit use of drugs in Bromley is increasing, the number entering treatment is 

decreasing. Opiate users still dominate adult treatment, these clients generally face a more 

complex set of challenges and it is more challenging to achieve positive and sustainable outcomes. 

The estimated level of unmet need (those with problematic substance misuse but not currently in 

contact with treatment services) in Bromley is much higher than the England average. It is 

estimated that 63% of drug users in Bromley are not known to treatment services, ranking Bromley 

second highest in the region. 

Of those in contact with treatment services in Bromley nearly 50% of clients are age 40+; this is 

slightly higher than the national average. The age profile of clients newly presenting for treatment 

has also shifted to an older population. 

In 2016/17 there were 100 children known to be living with people misusing drugs in Bromley who 

had presented to substance misuse services for the first time in that period. 

The proportion of clients who engaged with treatment following referral from prison is lower in 

Bromley than the national average (29% compared to 33%). 

Bromley has a higher proportion (37%) of new clients presenting with a co-occurring mental 

health condition (dual diagnosis) compared to England (24%). Half of all women who present new 

to treatment, for non-opiate or non-opiate and alcohol misuse, have a co-occurring mental health 

condition. 

Page 29



 

6 
 

16% of all people presenting to drug treatment services in Bromley cited a problem with prescription 

only or over the counter medication (POM/OTC) this is similar to the national average (15%) 

Only 11% of new clients in Bromley, who were eligible for hepatitis B vaccination and accepted to be 

vaccinated, actually started a course of vaccination. 

Of those completing treatment with a planned exit in Bromley, the number in full time work had 

increased by 32% (compared to when they entered treatment) this is considerably higher than the 

national average increase (16%). 

17% of all drug treatment clients in Bromley successfully completed treatment compared to 15% in 

England.  Locally the current treatment drop-out rate is lower than the national average (12% in 

Bromley compared to 17% nationally). Men were more likely to drop-out early across all substance 

groups both locally and nationally.  

Opiate clients have the lowest proportion of successful completions compared to rates for the 

other substance groups (8% in Bromley, 7% nationally). In Bromley the rates of opiate users 

achieving abstinence within 6 months is currently the same as the national average (39%). Women in 

Bromley presenting to treatment for opiate use had higher successful completion rates compared 

to men (12% compared to 6%). 

 

  

Page 30



 

7 
 

INTRODUCTION 

 

The World Health Organisation defines substance misuse as the use of a substance for a purpose not 

consistent with legal or medical guidelinesi.  

In the UK illegal drugs are classified, according to the harms they are considered to cause, into three 

main categories; A, B or C. Class A drugs are considered to be those which can cause the most harm. 

Table 1 

 
Adapted from UK Drug Classificationsii 

 

Drug misuse is recognised as a major public health issue in the UK. 

It is estimated nationally, that drug supply gives rise to £10.7 billion a year in social and economic 

costs – of which, £6 billion, is attributed to drug- related acquisitive crimeiii. Drug misuse is both a 

cause and consequence of wider factors including; physical and mental ill-health, and wider 

determinants. Harms caused by drug misuse are far reaching and affect lives at every leveliv.  

A recent review of the evidence of patterns of drug misuse and treatment outcomes in England was 

undertaken as part of the development of the new national Drug Strategy 2017v. The review identified 

a range of patterns in substance misuse and their impact that are evident or emerging in England: 

- The proportion of people in treatment with entrenched dependence and complex needs, 

particularly older heroin users, will increase. Evidence shows it is challenging to support those 

with complex needs and a long treatment history to achieve recovery, consequently the rates 

of successful treatment completion with continue to fall. 

 

- The number of deaths related to drug misuse has risen significantly over the last 20 years, 

and particularly rapidly in the last 3 years.  Older heroin users (those aged 40 and over who 

may have started using heroin in the 1980s and 1990s) who now have multiple health 

conditions, are more susceptible to overdose. Drug misuse deaths in those in treatment for 

Page 31



 

8 
 

opiate dependency are predicted to continue to rise rapidly, due to overdoses and deaths 

from long-term conditions. 

 

- There are reports of increasing problems of misuse and dependence associated with some 

prescription and over-the-counter medicines. The use of new psychoactive substances (NPS) 

is also increasing, and is a particular problem in prisons. New patterns of drug use and health 

risk behaviour are also becoming established including NPS used by injection, and drugs 

used alongside high-risk sexual behaviour (‘chemsex’). 

These trends are likely to influence the future harms and costs of substance misuse in England and 

impact on the effectiveness and outcomes of local substance misuse harm reduction, treatment and 

recovery services. 

A number of evidence based recommendations were made as a result of this review, which include:  

- Ensure drug treatment continues to address a broad range of outcomes, including harm 

reduction, social integration and recovery, through integrated treatment and recovery 

support systems.  

- Provide longer-term employment and housing support, including in-work support, to help 

people gain & maintain employment and appropriate housing.  

- Ensure there are robust and integrated pathways between drug treatment and all points 

of the criminal justice system, including pathways between prison and community-based 

treatment. 

- Maintain a realistic recovery ambition for the ageing cohort of heroin users with complex 

needs, accepting that the proportion of people who successfully complete treatment is 

likely to continue to fall.  

- Develop strategies to address the recent increases in drug-related deaths, including 

improving access to healthcare for people who use drugs, particularly for older people in 

treatment and improving local processes for reviewing incidents.  

- Closely monitor changing patterns of drug use, including NPS use and problematic use of 

medicines, and use multi-faceted responses, including managing prescribing practice, 

developing workforce skills and developing new service pathways for specific sub-

populations. 

This report will focus on drug misuse in adults and aims to draw on the latest available statistics to 

provide a profile of the patterns and trends in drug use in the population of Bromley and make regional 

and national comparisons. 

Analysis and recommendations will be provided to inform the planned reprocurement of substance 

misuse services for adults, children and young people in Bromley in 2018. 

Details of the patterns, impact and treatment of alcohol misuse in Bromley can be found in the 

“Alcohol” section on p. 246 of the JSNA 2016: https://bromley.mylifeportal.co.uk/media/20397/final-

report-jsna-2016.pdf 

  

Page 32

https://bromley.mylifeportal.co.uk/media/20397/final-report-jsna-2016.pdf
https://bromley.mylifeportal.co.uk/media/20397/final-report-jsna-2016.pdf


 

9 
 

A review of patterns of substance misuse in children and young people and the impact of parental 

substance misuse can be found in the Child Wellbeing Needs Assessment 2016: 

http://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50045892/Child%20wellbeing%20needs%20assessment%20fo

r%20Review%2028.09.16.pdf 

  

Page 33

http://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50045892/Child%20wellbeing%20needs%20assessment%20for%20Review%2028.09.16.pdf
http://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50045892/Child%20wellbeing%20needs%20assessment%20for%20Review%2028.09.16.pdf


 

10 
 

CAUSES AND PATTERNS OF DRUGS MISUSE 

 

Problem drug use is viewed as a medical condition in the UK, and there is neurobiological evidence to 

suggest that this is the case. There are both genetic and social risk factors for drug misuse, which are 

most potent in combination.  

Most people start taking illicit drugs in their teens and early twenties, with most reducing or stopping 

use as they move into adulthood. Dependency on opioids tends to start a few years after first use.  

Dependency causes long-lasting changes in the brain, which cause tolerance, craving and withdrawal. 

As a result it is a chronic condition, characterised by periods of remission and relapse.  

Drug use and misuse tend to be clustered; for example, areas of relatively high social deprivation 

have a higher prevalence of illicit opiate and crack cocaine use and larger numbers of people in 

treatment. The association between social factors and illicit drug use is reciprocal; drug misuse can 

cause social disadvantage, and socio-economic disadvantage may lead to drug use and dependence. 

Social factors can also moderate drug treatment outcomes. Unemployment and housing problems 

have a marked negative impact on treatment outcomes and exacerbate the risk that someone will 

relapse after treatment. Addressing the wider issues of health inequality and social exclusion are 

therefore fundamental to improving treatment outcomesvi. 

  

Page 34



 

11 
 

EPIDEMIOLOGY OF DRUG MISUSE 

 

Adapted from Public Health Englandvii 

Because of the illicit nature of drug misuse, direct counts for the number of opiate and /or crack 

cocaine users (OCU) are not readily available through administrative datasets. Instead indirect 

techniques are used to provide estimates of prevalence. 

There are currently two sources of prevalence information: the Crime Survey for England and Wales 

(CSEW) (2016-17) and estimates of problematic opiate use and crack cocaine use for England (2014-

15). 

 

Crime Survey for England and Wales 

According to the 2016/17 CSEW, 1 in 3 (34.2%) adults aged 16 to 59 and 35.7% young adults aged 

15-24 years had used a drug at some point in their lives (10.8 million people and 2.2 million people 

respectively).  

Around 1 in 12 (8.5%) adults aged 16-59 in England and Wales had taken an illicit drug in in the last 

year (CSEW, 2016/17). This equated to around 2.8 million people, and was similar to the 2015/16 

survey (8.4%).  

Around 1 in 5 (19.2%) young adults aged 16 to 24 in England and Wales had a taken a drug in the last 

year (CSEW, 2016/17). This proportion was more than double that of the wider age group, and 

equates to 1.2 million people. The level of drug use was similar to the 2015/16 survey (18.0%). 

The drug most cited as ever used was cannabis. However cannabis use is lower than a decade ago 

and rates have been stable since 2009-10. Estimates of ecstasy use among those aged between 16-

Page 35



 

12 
 

24 years have increased and are currently similar to levels a decade ago (4.5% in 2015-2016 

compared with 4.3% in 2005-2006). 

The 2016/17 survey estimated that in the last year 7.6% of adults aged 16 to 59 had taken a 

prescription-only painkiller not prescribed to them for medical reasons, similar to the estimate of 7.4 

per cent in the 2015/16 survey. 

While use of new psychoactive substances among the general population is low (0.7% of 16-59 year 

olds reported having used a new psychoactive substance in 2015-2016), they continue to appear 

rapidly on the market, and use among certain groups is problematic, particularly among the homeless 

population and in prisons. In addition, there is emerging use of image and performance enhancing 

drugs (including intravenous use); and use of multiple drugs (‘poly-substance misuse’). 

 

Prevalence Estimates- Bromley compared to region and nation 

These estimates bring together datasets available at a local and national level. For further information 

on the methodology, follow the link below http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-

content/uploads/2017/09/Estimates-of-the-Prevalence-of-Opiate-Use-and-crack-cocaine-use-2014-

15.pdf. 

Table 2 

 
Source: National Treatment Agency, 2017viii 

 

Bromley has lower estimated rates of opiate and or crack use than London and England in all 

categories (Table 2). The number of people using drugs in all categories has increased since the last 

estimates in 2011/12.The local trend is similar to the national trend but not regional, where the 

numbers have fallen in all categories (Table 3). It is estimated that three quarters of the population 

using OCU and crack and two thirds of opiate users in Bromley are currently not in treatment.  

Page 36

http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/Estimates-of-the-Prevalence-of-Opiate-Use-and-crack-cocaine-use-2014-15.pdf
http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/Estimates-of-the-Prevalence-of-Opiate-Use-and-crack-cocaine-use-2014-15.pdf
http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/Estimates-of-the-Prevalence-of-Opiate-Use-and-crack-cocaine-use-2014-15.pdf


 

13 
 

Table 3 

  
Source: PHE Adults- drugs commissioning support pack 2018/19 & National Treatment Agency, 2017 

 

Bromley has the 7th lowest rates (out of 33 boroughs) of estimated combined opiate and or crack use 

in the region (Figure 1), as well as the 5th lowest estimated rates of opiate use (Figure 2) and crack 

use in the region (Figure 3). Although the rates of drug use are significantly below the region and 

national average, Bromley fares worse than two of the four local authorities in the region in a similar 

socioeconomic deprivation bracket (Merton, Sutton, Harrow, City of London). 

Figure 1 

 
 

 

Opiate &/or 

Crack Users Opiate Crack

Bromley 104 56 87

England 6,904 1,313 16,188

London -2,498 -3,168 -854

Difference between 2014/15 and 2011/12  estimates                                 

Page 37



 

14 
 

Figure 2 

 

 

Figure 3 

 

 

Demographic characteristics- Age 

In England and Wales, younger people were more likely to take drugs than older people (CSEW, 

2016/17).The level of any drug use in the last year was highest among the youngest age groups in 

England and Wales; 16.5% of 16 to 19 year olds and 21.2% of 20 to 24 year olds reported any drug 

use in the last year. Levels of drug use then decreased as age increased, from 11.4% of 25 to 29 year 

olds to 2% of 55 to 59 year olds. 

Page 38



 

15 
 

There is no local information on combined drug use by age; the data available splits drug use by the 

different categories (opiate and/or crack users and opiate users but no data on crack use). 

The estimated rates of opiate consumption in 15-24 year olds is similar in Bromley to that in London 

and England whereas opiate consumption rates in the older age groups are lower in Bromley in 

comparison to national and regional figures (Figure 4). The wide and overlapping confidence intervals 

are indicative of the small numbers. 

For combined opiate and/or crack use rates (Figure 5), the estimated consumption rates are actually 

higher in Bromley’s young people (age 15-24) than the regional or national average. 

Figure 4 

 
Source: National Treatment Agency, 2017 

 

Page 39



 

16 
 

Figure 5 

 
Source: National Treatment Agency, 2017 

 

Analysis of trends in prevalence rates over time show an overall increase in the estimated number of 

older drug users (Figure 6).  

In England, there has been a significant increase in those aged 35 and over who use opiates and or 

crack, rising from 130,628 in 2010-11 to 163,180 in 2014-15. A large proportion of heroin/opiate users 

in treatment in 2016-17 will have started using heroin in the epidemics of the 1980s and 1990s and 

are now over 40 years of age, having been using heroin for a significantly long period of time.ix The 

long term use significantly impacts on the burden of disease (particularly increasing complexity of 

cases with long term conditions) and mortality. Evidence shows that the aging cohort contributed to 

the worsening trend of drug related deaths ratesx. Drug related deaths are discussed later in the 

report. 

In Bromley, the estimated prevalence of opiate and or crack users in those aged 35-64 years in 

2014/15 (609) is slightly lower than the previous estimates (707, 2011/12). (Figure 6) 

 

Page 40



 

17 
 

Figure 6 

 
Source: National Treatment Agency, 2017. 

 

Demographic characteristics- Gender 

National statistics show that men were more likely to take drugs than women. Around 1 in 9 (11.5%) 

men aged 16 to 59 had taken any drug in the last year, compared with 1 in 18 (5.5%) women (CSEW, 

2016/17). 

The estimated levels of male opiate users in Bromley is about four times the estimated rates for 

females, whilst it’s about three times in the region and the nation (Table 4). 

Table 4: The estimated number and (rate per 1000 population) of Opiate users by gender:  2014/15 

  
Source: National Treatment Agency 

 

Female Male

Bromley

 158                                                      

(1.49) 

 712                                                                  

(7.18) 

London

 9427                                          

(3.19) 

 31323                                                                           

(10.58) 

England

 61682                                                                 

(3.51) 

 195794                                                                         

(11.18) 

Page 41



 

18 
 

In the 2016/17 CSEW, nationally, men were more than twice as likely to report using cannabis in the 

last year as women (9.0% of men, compared with 4.2% of women). Men were almost three times 

more likely than women to take powder cocaine (3.3% compared with 1.3%) and were also twice as 

likely to have taken ecstasy (1.7% compared with 0.9%) in the last year. Unfortunately at a local level, 

drug use analysis by gender is only available for opiate use and not the other categories of drug. So 

we are unable to make comparisons of the local gender profile for users of other types of drugs. 

Figure 7 and 8 shows that Bromley has the second lowest rates of opiate use in women and men in 

the region. Bromley rates are lower than the four local authorities in the region in a similar 

socioeconomic deprivation bracket (Harrow, Merton, Sutton and City of London). The wide over 

lapping confidence intervals are worth noting, indicative of the small numbers behind these data and 

the indeterminate statistical significance. 

Figure 7 

 
 
Figure 8 

 
 

Page 42



 

19 
 

Prevalence of over the counter and prescription only medication 

Addiction to prescription-only medicines (POMs) and over the counter medicines (OTC) has become 

an increasing problem in recent yearsxi. OTC/POM drugs come under four main groups: 

• Benzodiazepines and z-drugs, prescribed mainly for anxiety (benzodiazepines only) and 

insomnia 

• Opioid and some other pain medicines, both prescribed and bought over-the-counter 

• Stimulants, prescribed for ADHD or slimming 

• Some OTC cough and cold medicines, and anti-histamines and stimulants. 

There are distinct but overlapping populations using these medicines: 

• Those who use prescription and OTC medicines as a supplement or alternative to illicit 

drugs, or as a commodity to sell 

• Those who overuse prescription or OTC medicines to cope with genuine or perceived 

physical or psychological symptoms 

• Those for whom the prescribed use of a medicine inadvertently led to dependence, 

sometimes called involuntary or iatrogenic addiction. 

• Whilst there is evidence in the USA of a very substantial rise in the misuse of opioid 

analgesic medication and heroin use, there is currently no evidence of this gateway into 

heroin and other illicit substance use in England. It is however important that opioid 

prescribing levels are monitored to ensure they remain proportionate to need and that 

there are measures in place to prevent and treat dependence. 

16% of all people presenting to drug treatment services in Bromley cited a problem with prescription 

only or over the counter medication (POM/OTC). Of these, 11% cited illicit use 1 and 5% are 

presenting to treatment for non-illicit use xii(JSNA support pack, 2018/19). The proportion of people 

citing POM/OTC use in Bromley is similar to England (15%). Of the 15% citing use in England, 12% 

were illicitly using while 3% were non-illicit 2users. 

 

New Psychoactive Substances and Club Drugs 

Club drugs and New Psychoactive Substances (NPS) bring together a number of different substances 

typically used by people in bars and nightclubs, at concerts and festivals, before and after a night out. 

The definition of NPS and Club Drugs has evolved over the years, reflecting the rapid and constant 

change in the characteristics of the drugs that are encompassed by the definition and the way in which 

they are used. A UK report xiiiin 2015 cited the following definitions: 

NPS are those substances that are deliberately designed to mimic the effects of controlled drugs while 

at the same time “designed” to be outside the scope of the Misuse of Drugs Act. 

                                                           
1 Using Prescription only medicine to supplement the abuse of traditional illicit drug use and/or complement the 
effects of illicit drug use 
2 Addiction to prescription only medicine and taking prescription only medicine for reasons, or in ways or 
amounts not intended by the prescriber 

Page 43



 

20 
 

Club drugs are those controlled drugs (primarily used on the club/dance/festival scene) that are cause 

for growing concern (older drugs causing newer problems) either because of increasing acute 

incidents (such as MDMA/PMA) or their association with longer term, chronic conditions (such as 

GHB/GBL, ketamine and methamphetamine). 

NPS can be further sub-divided into 4 main groups:xiv 

1. Synthetic cannabinoid receptor agonists (SCRAs) – traded under names such as; Clockwork 

Orange and Black Mamba. The chemicals in these drugs act on the brain in a similar way to 

cannabis. 

2. Stimulant-type drugs – The effects of these drugs replicate those experienced with 

amphetamine and MDMA. Examples of these NPS include; BZP, mephedrone, MPDV, NRG-

1 and Benzo Fury. 

3. Hallucinogenic NPS – Examples include; Bromo-Dragonfly, 25i-NBOMe & methoxyetamine 

4. Opiates – there is some evidence of opiate type NPS, such as kratom, available in Europe but 

currently no evidence of significant use in the UK. 

The 2015/16 CSEW showed that some behaviours make it statistically significantly more likely that an 

individual will have used an NPS in the last year such as; alcohol consumption, visited a night club 

and evening pub or bar visit. 

The populations citing NPS/club drug use can also be split into two distinct groups; i) those also using 

opiates and ii) those citing NPS/club drug use and possibly other drugs but not opiates. Non-opiate 

using club drug users typically have good personal resources- job, relationships, accommodation- that 

means they are more likely to make the most of treatment.xv In contrast a UK report xvirecently 

described the profile of a NPS user as; a vulnerable young person, living in a socio-economic deprived 

environment (possibly on the streets or in the prison population), too young to be on the club drug 

scene and with little disposable income but who now has access to easily available (supposedly legal) 

substances with which to get intoxicated. 

Among the club drug users in Bromley citing opiate use (who were new to treatment in 2016/17), 

Mephedrone was the commonly used drug. While among those with no additional opiate use, Ecstasy 

(60%) was the drug most commonly used followed by NPS other (40%). Of those citing NPS other, 

20% was predominantly cannabinoid and 20% others (JSNA Support Pack, 2018/19). The data is 

subject to small numbers year on year random variation and disclosure controls which inhibit further 

analysis. 

Among the club drug users in England citing opiate use (who were new to treatment in 2016/17), NPS 

other (69%) was the most commonly used drug, which was dominated by cannabinoids (42%) and 

other (18%). Among the club drug users with no additional opiate use, the three top most cited drugs 

were; Ecstasy (32%), NPS other (29%) and Ketaminie (21%).  

Both nationally and locally, the club drug users with or without opiate use, citing NPS other, also 

mainly cited Cannabinoid predominant drugs followed by other category. 

 

Page 44



 

21 
 

Treatment population 

This section describes the characteristics of people who were in structured drug treatment in 2016-17. 

These services are a key part of drug treatment and recovery systems. The section includes a profile 

of all those in treatment and then goes on to describe the characteristics of specifically those who 

were new to treatment3 in that year. This doesn’t include any information on the population of drug 

users who are not receiving treatment. The potential level of unmet need in the population who are not 

in contact treatment services is discussed further in this report. 

In 2016/17, there were 279,793 people aged 18-99 attending structured treatment for drug misuse in 

England, 28% (78,663) of them were new to treatment in this period.  

In 2016/17, 460 clients attended drug treatment services in Bromley, 50% (231) were new to 

treatment in this period. The proportion of clients who were new to treatment is considerably higher in 

Bromley compared to the national average, however, it is indeterminate the proportion of clients re-

presenting to service and those at first point of contact. 

Table 5 shows that the most common reason for seeking treatment, both locally and nationally, is 

opiate use. 

Over half of those in treatment nationally (52%, 146,536) were misusing opiates. This proportion is 

higher in Bromley with 66% (304) of clients in Bromley seeking treatment for opiate misuse. 

The proportion of clients seeking treatment for opiate use is slightly lower in those who were new to 

treatment in 2016/17 in Bromley (53%) but this is still the predominant substance type for which 

treatment is sought. The proportion of those clients new to treatment in Bromley who sought help for 

non-opiate or non-opiate and alcohol misuse is considerably larger than in the total treatment 

population in Bromley (47% of the new to treatment population compared to 34% in the total treatment 

population). 

  

                                                           
3
 Mix of individuals at their first point of contact with treatment system and those previously known to the service who are 

representing for further treatment. 

Page 45



 

22 
 

 

Table 5: Numbers in treatment and new presentations by main substance group 2016/17 

 
Source: National Drug Treatment Service, 2017 

 

Substance use profile 

Individuals may present to treatment citing problems with more than one substance (including 

alcohol). However, clients that are in treatment for alcohol only are excluded from this analysis. The 

adjunctive substances clients present to treatment with differ by the main drug groups. Opiate clients 

in Bromley tend to present with crack cocaine, making crack cocaine the biggest adjunctive substance 

(29%). Non-opiate clients accessing treatment in Bromley, either alone or in conjunction with alcohol, 

tend to present with cocaine and cannabis misuse. Figure 9 shows substance use profile of all clients 

in treatment in Bromley in 2016/17. 

 

Page 46



 

23 
 

Figure 9: Substance breakdown of all clients in treatment in Bromley: 2016-17 

 
Source: NDTMS Trend Report, 2016-17 

 

Treatment population trends  

The number of clients in contact with treatment services has fallen gradually for both Bromley and 

England as shown in Figures 10 and 11. The data presented combines all three main substance 

groups- opiate, non-opiate and alcohol and non-opiate only. Alongside the reduction in the number of 

clients in treatment, there is a downward trend in the number of new clients entering treatment (Figure 

12 and 13). 

Figure 10 

 
 

Page 47



 

24 
 

Figure 11 

 
 

The spikes and troughs in the number of new clients entering treatment in Bromley follow a similar 

pattern to the England trends (Figure 12 and 13). 

 
Figure 12 

 
 

Page 48



 

25 
 

Figure 13 

 
 

Treatment Population Profile: Age 

On average individuals are most likely to start using drugs in their late teens and early twenties. 

The age distribution of individuals in treatment mirrors the patterns seen in the prevalence estimates, 

presented earlier (Figures 4 and 5). 

The pattern of age distribution across the drug treatment population in Bromley is similar to England 

with the peak age group being 30-39 years. However the treatment population in Bromley appears to 

be slightly older on average compared to England. Nearly 50% of clients in treatment in Bromley are 

age 40+ compared to 44% in England. (Figure 14) 

Figure 14 

 
 

Figure 15 shows the trends in the age distribution of new presentations to treatment from 2009-10 to 

2016-17 in Bromley. This indicates that the age profile of those presenting new to treatment in 

Bromley has shifted to an older population. There has been an overall decrease in the proportion of 

Page 49



 

26 
 

people presenting new to treatment aged 18-29 and an overall increase in the proportion of people 

age 50-59 and 60+. 

This reflects the national trend which has seen a 27% increase in the number of clients aged 45 and 

over presenting new to treatment and a corresponding decrease of 38% in the numbers of those 

under 30 presenting to treatment.  

Figure 15 

 

 

Treatment Population Profile: Gender 

In Bromley, there were 460 adults in drug treatment services in 2016/17; of which two thirds (68%) 

were male, compared to three quarters (73%) in England. The gender split varied depending on the 

presenting substances both locally and nationally. Nationally, women make up 27% of adults in drug 

treatment, lower than Bromley at 32%. Women presenting to treatment often experience poor mental 

health, domestic violence and abuse, which may impact upon their recovery, and they are more likely 

to be carers of children (JSNA support Pack, 2018/19). 

 

Treatment Population Profile: Geographical analysis 

The relationship between deprivation and illegal drug use has been highlighted in a number of 

research studies. Evidence shows that deprivation is associated with the problematic use of particular 

drugs such as heroin and crack cocaine. Although the use of these drugs is not exclusively related to 

deprivation, it is much more common among people living in deprivationxvii. 

In Bromley the majority of clients in treatment in 2016/17 were living in the more deprived areas of the 

borough (Map 1). The map depicts the rates of treatment access across the wards in Bromley. In 

terms of the actual numbers of clients accessing treatment in 2016/17 the greatest number were living 

in the Crays, Penge and Cator, Crystal Palace and Mottingham and Chislehurst North. 

Page 50



 

27 
 

Rates were highest in the Crays, Penge and Cator and Plaistow and Sundridge in the north and 

Darwin in the south of the borough. It should be noted that this doesn’t represent a geographical 

analysis of the entire population of people currently misusing drugs in Bromley. It only represents 

those that had accessed and were receiving treatment in 2016/17. Further work is needed to better 

understand the unmet need amongst drug users in the population of Bromley who are not accessing 

services. 

Map 1 

 

  

Page 51



 

28 
 

Treatment population with prior convictions 

Table 6 presents the proportion of treatment clients with a prior conviction. The cohort is comprised of 

all clients in treatment at that point, but also includes clients who were in treatment at any point within 

the preceding year. Non-opiate and alcohol users contributed the highest number of clients with a 

prior conviction in Bromley in contrast to England, where opiates represented the highest group. 

However there were similar proportions of non-opiates, with 1 out of 3 clients both locally and 

nationally having a prior conviction. 

Opiates had the lowest number of clients with a prior conviction in Bromley, representing 23% of the 

opiate treatment population in Bromley. England had higher proportions of opiate clients with a prior 

conviction compared to Bromley. Drug use coupled with prison sentence compounds the person’s 

chances of recovery and re-integration into society. There is a need for continued work to engage with 

prison services. 

Table 6 

  
Source: PHE- PCC Support Pack, 2017 

 

New to Treatment Population Profile: Gender and Ethnicity 

Half (50%) of the drug treatment population in Bromley in 2016/17 were new to treatment compared to 

39% of the national drug treatment population. Gender wise in Bromley, 53% of the males in treatment 

were new compared to 43% of the females. 

The majority (84%) of new presentations to drug treatment in Bromley self-reported as White British, 

this is in keeping with the general ethnic profile of the borough. In line with the majority presenting 

93% of clients also reported UK as their country of origin. In terms of sexuality, 3% of the new 

presentations to Bromley drug treatment services self-reported as Gay, Lesbian or Bi –Sexual. 15% of 

the clients entering treatment self-reported as having at least one disability. It is important that 

treatment services in Bromley are able to adapt to the needs of these client groups. 

Predicting the future treatment population 

As part of its evidence review for the new National Drugs Strategy, Public Health England produced 

estimates of the size and characteristics of the drug treatment population in England over the next 4 

years (to 2020)xviii. 

number % number %

Opiate 31 23% 14.646 32%

Non-opiate 47 20% 13,164 21%

Non-opiate and alcohol 50 36% 9470 36%

All 128 22649

EnglandBromley

Number and proportion of clients in the treatment population in 2012 

with convictions in the two years preceding treatment

Page 52



 

29 
 

- Overall, it is projected that the number of people in treatment for opiate misuse will fall 

over the next four years, with fewer people starting treatment than leaving, particularly 

those new to treatment 

- The proportion of opiate users, both in and out of treatment, aged 45 and over will 

continue to increase and this will have significant implications for their health and mortality 

risks. Drug treatment will need to respond to a range of age-related, long-term health 

conditions (which may be exacerbated by other drug use and smoking) and actively 

support referrals for primary and specialist care 

- As treatment services become more widely populated by those with entrenched drug use 

it is predicted that overall, the rate of completions for opiate users is likely to fall and local 

areas should take this into account when considering setting any performance target.  It is 

much harder to effect behaviour change with people who have very entrenched patterns 

of use and their likelihood of achieving positive outcomes are greatly diminished when 

compared to opiate users who engage after a shorter period of use 

- Overall, it is projected that the number of non-opiate users in treatment will remain 

relatively stable over the next four years, as has been the case in recent years. 

- It is projected that the age profile of non-opiate clients will not change that much over the 

next four years, with the majority of presentations continuing to come from the under 35 

age group 

- Changes may be seen in the types of non-opiate substances that individuals are 

presenting for, with a rise in the use of NPS and the decline seen over the last 10 years in 

benzodiazepine and crack cocaine presentations 

- NPS will attract new populations to using drugs and the development of new referral 

pathways and partnerships to reach new and emerging groups of users will be essential. 

As will staff with the competences to work with new users and patterns of use. 

- While drug treatment services should always have high aspirations for all people in 

treatment, it is important that expectations are also realistic and reflect different 

populations in treatment, with very different likelihoods of success 

Route into treatment 

There are various possible sources of referral into treatment services. 

The most common source of referral for all drugs clients in both Bromley and England was referrals 

from self, family and friends. The second most common source of referrals was the Criminal Justice 

system (CJS) both locally and nationally. The proportion of referrals from “other” sources is higher 

nationally than in Bromley (15% compared to 7% respectively).  

The groupings used in Figure 16 and Figure 17 differ as the trend data is grouped slightly differently 

to the data for the current year in the data source. 

Trends show that self, family and friends still contribute greatly to referrals into treatment services. 

This means that the local community is a huge asset in improving service penetration in the high 

prevalence communities. The proportion of referrals through the health services and social care has 

Page 53



 

30 
 

generally increased while referrals from other substance misuse services4 have seen a complete year 

on year reduction since 2009-10 (Figure 17). 

Figure 16 

 

 

Figure 17 

 
Source: NDTMS Trend Report, 2016-17 

 

 

  

                                                           
4
 Substance misuse services refers to any referral from another substance misuse service; including out of area 

substance misuse services or internal referral between agencies in the same area. 
 

Page 54



 

31 
 

Not in treatment population 

Table 7 below presents the estimated proportion of drug users by substance group currently not in 

treatment. This gives an indication of unmet need in Bromley compared to England. Bromley has a 

higher estimated rate of individuals not in treatment for all substance groups compared to England. 

Table 7: Percentage drug users not in treatment by substance group 

 
Source: PHE- JSNA Support Pack, 2018/19 

 

 

Of note is the juxtaposition between the comparably low estimated prevalence of opiate use in 

Bromley (Figure 2) and the higher rates of substance users not in treatment (Table 7 and Figure 18). 

The estimated number of opiate and or crack users and the rate of unmet need, together, could have 

a significant impact on crime, unemployment, safeguarding children and long term benefit reliance. 

Data shows that 63% of drug users in Bromley are not known to treatment services (Figure 18). With 

this rate, Bromley ranks second highest in the region, comparable to the second lowest rates of 

Opiate use, lower than areas in the same national socioeconomic deprivation bracket. Bromley levels 

of unmet are second to only one LA in the region. In addition, Bromley ranks 14th out of 15 local 

authorities in England in the same socioeconomic deprivation bracket on proportion of unmet need in 

opiate users; where 1 is the lowest. Further work is planned to identify and profile drug users who are 

not in treatment in Bromley in order to inform strategies to target and successfully engage those in 

need of treatment. 

 

Opiate 

&/or Crack Opiate Crack

Bromley 75 66 76

England 50 43 62

  Percentage unmet need, 2014/15

Page 55



 

32 
 

Figure 18 

 
 

 

 

  

Page 56



 

33 
 

IMPACT ON HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
 

Drug misuse can have a wide range of short and long term, direct and indirect effects on physical and 

mental health effects. The nature of these effects are often dependant on a multitude of factors, for 

instance; the specific drug or combination of drugs used, how they are taken, quantity taken, the 

person’s underlying health, social factors and environmental factorsxix. 

Whilst people who misuse any type of illicit substance are at risk of health harms and even death, the 

most harmful effects of drug misuse are seen among opioid users. These include increased risk of 

death from overdose, increased risk of infection with blood-borne viruses (HIV, hepatitis B and 

hepatitis C), high levels of depression and anxiety disorders, social problems such as disrupted 

parenting, unemployment and homelessness, and increased participation in the acquisitive crime 

required to fund the habit. 

 

Adapted from Public Health Englandxx 

 

Mental health (dual diagnosis) 

Drug misuse is common among people with mental health problems and the relationship between the 

two is complex. Evidence shows that up to two thirds of people in drug services experience mental 

health problemsxxi and that people with co-occurring conditions have an elevated risk of other health 

problems and premature mortalityxxii. 

Psychiatric comorbidity is common in drug misuse populations, with anxiety and depression generally 

common and antisocial and other personality disorders more prevalent than in the non-user 

populationxxiii. Drug misuse disorders complicated by other comorbid mental disorders have been 

Page 57



 

34 
 

recognised as having a poorer prognosis and being more difficult to treat than those without comorbid 

disordersxxiv.  

Figure 19 presents the proportion of clients entering treatment in 2016-17 who were also receiving 

care from a mental health service for reasons other than substance misuse. It is worth noting the 

incompleteness of reporting on dual diagnosis as well as the variation across partnerships in how dual 

diagnosis is defined in practice. With that said, Bromley seems to have higher proportions (37%) of 

new clients with a co-occurring mental health condition compared to England (24%). Analysis by 

substance group in Bromley shows that a similar proportion (around a third), of the new client group 

presenting for either opiate or non-opiate misuse were also receiving care from mental health 

services. However this proportion is higher in those who present for treatment for both non-opiate drug 

misuse combined with alcohol misuse. Half of new clients in this group were also receiving care from 

mental health services. The reasons behind the differing proportions of dual diagnosis clients in 

different treatment groups are likely to be complex. 

 

Figure 19 

 
13% of new clients with missing or incomplete dual diagnosis status. Variation across partnerships in definition and 
recording of dual diagnosis 

 

Figure 20 shows further analysis of the new presentations to treatment with a co-occurring mental 

health condition by substance group and gender. Overall, the proportion of women who are new to 

treatment and have a co-occurring mental health condition is higher than that in men both locally and 

nationally. (44% of all women in Bromley presenting new to treatment had a co-occurring mental 

health condition and compared to  33% of all men) and( nationally (the national proportions are 31% of 

all women and 22% of all men new to treatment have a dual diagnosis). Of note in Bromley, is the fact 

that half of the women new to treatment for non- opiate and non –opiate and alcohol presented with a 

dual diagnosis. 

Page 58



 

35 
 

Figure 20 

 

 

Figure 21 shows rates of dual diagnosis in Bromley compared to other London boroughs. This 

measure is indicative of levels of co-existing mental health problems in the overall drug treatment 

population and doesn’t account for levels of co-existing substance misuse and mental health problems 

in the wider population not currently in contact with services. Bromley has the fifth lowest rates in the 

region, and significantly lower rates than the London average. When compared to other boroughs in 

the region with similar socioeconomic deprivation levels, Bromley rates are still lower. 

Figure 21 

 

 

Page 59



 

36 
 

Figure 22 shows a downward trend of the proportion of people in concurrent contact with mental 

health services and substance misuse services in Bromley in contrast with the upward trend regionally 

and nationally. The wide overlapping confidence intervals in Bromley are indicative of the small 

numbers. However, in 2015/16, Bromley had significantly lower rates of clients in concurrent contact 

with mental health and substance misuse services than the regional average. 

Figure 22 

 

 

In 2015/16 there were 286 hospital admissions in Bromley for drug related mental health and 

behavioural disorders (including primary and secondary cause of admission). Figure 23 shows that, 

the number of admissions for drug related mental health and behavioural disorders in Bromley and 

were increasing year on year up until the latest recording period where rates fell for the first time in 5 

years. It is worth noting that, admissions don’t represent counts of patients, as a person may have 

more than one admission a year. 

Figure 23 

 

 

Page 60



 

37 
 

Morbidity: Blood Borne Infections 

Injecting drug users are at great risk of blood borne infections such as Heptatis C and HIV, due to 

poor and non-sterile injecting techniques. Sharing injecting equipment is the single biggest factor in 

blood borne virus transmission among individuals who use and inject drugs and it elevates mortality 

risk. Providing opioid substitution therapy (OST), sterile injecting equipment and antiviral treatments is 

crucial in action to protect the users and their communities, and to provide long-term health savings. 

There are also concerns that some NPS are injected. This appears to be linked to members of three 

distinct populations: those who only use NPS but do so frequently; older drug users who appear to be 

supplementing or switching from established drugs that are prepared for injection; and those engaging 

in chemsex. A frequent pattern of NPS injecting among all these groups represents a significant 

concern for blood born virus transmission and health damagexxv. 

The majority of clients entering treatment have never injected drugs. However among clients that 

reported injecting drug use, there is a variation between substance groups. Opiate clients were more 

likely to report injecting drug use compared to all other substance groups (Figure 24). Bromley has 

higher proportions of clients presenting to treatment having never injected drugs compared to England 

in all substance groups (Figure 24). 

Trends show consistently higher proportions in Bromley of new presentations reporting never having 

injected drugs and lower proportions in all other categories compared to England (Figure 24). The 

majority of non-opiate clients who inject are likely to be individuals using methamphetamine and 

mephedrone (Local Area Trend Report, 2016/17). Due to disclosure controls on small numbers, it is 

not possible to present detailed analysis. 

Figure 24 

 
Source: NDTMS Trend Report, 2017 

 

Page 61



 

38 
 

HIV 

HIV levels remain low but the risks of transmission in those injecting drugs remain.  

In the UK, around 1 in 100 people who inject drugs is living with HIV. Most have been diagnosed and 

will be accessing HIV care. However, the diagnosis often occurs at a late stage among injecting drug 

usersxxvi. Once diagnosed the uptake of HIV related care, including anti-retroviral therapy, is relatively 

high. 

The level of HIV infection and the uptake of HIV related care among those injecting image and 

performance enhancing drugs is similar to that among those injecting psychoactive drugs. 

Statistics show that over the last decade, around 1% of Bromley residents diagnosed with HIV and are 

accessing care probably acquired the infection through injecting drug use compared to 2% in England. 

On average, 40% of all adults diagnosed with HIV in Bromley are diagnosed late. 

 

Hepatitis C and Hepatitis B 

Hepatis C remains the most common infection among people who inject drugs, 90% of all cases of 

Hepatitis C diagnosed in the UK occur as a result of injecting drugs. Around 2 out of every five people 

who inject psychoactive drugs, such as heroin and mephedrone, are living with hepatitis C; half of 

these infections are undiagnosed. About 1 in 20 of those who inject image and performance 

enhancing drugs, such as anabolic steroids, are living with hepatitis Cxxvii. 

Hepatitis B is now rare, but vaccine uptake needs to be sustained. In the UK, around 1 in every 200 

people who injected psychoactive drugs is living with hepatitis B infection. About three quarters of 

people who inject psychoactive drugs report taking up vaccines against hepatitis B, but the uptake 

level is no longer increasing. Vaccine uptake is much lower among people who inject image and 

performance enhancing drugsxxviii. 

Due to the elevated risk of blood borne infection in this population, injecting drug users accessing 

treatment for substance misuse are tested for Hepatitis B and C and, if appropriate, vaccinated. 

In 2016/17, 52% of new presenters to drug services in Bromley eligible for a hepatitis B vaccination 

accepted one, compared with the national average of 39%. It is worth noting that the vaccination 

conversion and completion rate in this treatment population is very low. Only 11% of those who 

accepted to be vaccinated actually started a course of vaccination and furthermore, only 12% of those 

completed a course of hepatitis B vaccination. 

During the same period (2016/17), 79% of previously or currently injecting clients in treatment in 

Bromley received a Hepatitis C test, as compared with the national average of 83%. Nationally, there 

are similar proportions of men (83%) and women (84%) receiving hepatitis C tests, while in Bromley; 

more women (81%) received the test in comparison to men (77%) in 2016/17. 

  

Page 62



 

39 
 

Drug users with Long term conditions 

Statistics on drug users with long term conditions is not readily available through administrative 

datasets; although it is known that they often have health and mental health problemsxxix. In early 

2014, the medical records of ten out of twelve patients who had died from drug related causes in the 

previous 12 months in Bromley were examined. It was found that half of these patients had one or 

more significant medical conditions – asthma, Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease, ischaemic 

heart disease and alcohol-related problems, some had a history of depression, and a smaller 

proportion had been in contact with services for their drug use. 

 

Hospital admissions 

As well as being a key issue for secondary care, hospital admissions due to drug poisoning can be an 

indicator of future deaths. Evidence shows that people who experience non-fatal overdoses are more 

likely to experience a future fatal overdosexxx.  

In 2016/17, hospital admission rates5 for drug poisoning in Bromley were significantly lower than the 

national rate at 22.3/100,000 and 52.3 per 100,000 respectively. These include admissions where 

drug poisoning was the primary or secondary cause of admission and also includes poisonings by 

“other opioids” which may include poisonings by non-illicit or prescribed opioids.  

Figure 25 presents admission trends with a primary diagnosis of poisoning by illicit drug use. These 

rates are not comparable to the 2016/17 data because of the exclusion of admissions with a 

secondary diagnosis of drug poisoning, meaning that it isn’t a complete picture of illicit drug poisoning 

inpatient activity in Bromley. That said, the rates in Bromley are erratic over the last three years, in 

contrast to the upward trends in England and London. It is not known if the difference seen within and 

between the geographies is statistically significant. 

Figure 25 

 
                                                           
5
 All persons, crude rate per 100,000 (PHE- JSNA Support Pack, 2018/19) 

Page 63



 

40 
 

Hospital admissions: age and gender 

Local data indicates that, in 2016/17, there were 677 admissions with a primary or secondary 

diagnosis of substance misuse6 in Bromley 15 years and over. Admissions in men were 1.3 times 

those in women. 

Figure 26 

 

 

Analysis of local hospital episodes data shows that rates of hospital admissions for substance misuse 

are highest in young people. The high rate in the under 25s is particularly driven by those aged 20-24 

years (Figure 27). The numbers of admissions across the age groups follow varied trends, with some 

groups going up (15-19 years, 25-29 years and 50-54 years) while others are erratic or reducing (35-

39 years and 55-59 years).  

Figure 27 

 

                                                           
6
 For Further information on relevant ICD-10 codes refer to Table 2 in the Appendix 

Page 64



 

41 
 

Comparative and trend analysis (in Figure 28 and 29) shows that Bromley has significantly higher 

rates of hospital admission rates for substance misuse in young people 15-24 years old7 than England 

and London and data shows a worsening trend. The rate in Bromley is worse than all the London 

boroughs in the same socioeconomic deprivation bracket (Merton, Sutton and Harrow). Although 

hospital admission rates in young people are increasing year on year; nationally and regionally, the 

increase in Bromley is steeper (Figure 29). 

The estimates of the prevalence of opiate and crack use in Bromley, previously presented in this 

report (Figure 6), show that the rates of use of these types of substances in young people is relatively 

low. However the estimates suggest an upward trend in this age group which may be contributing to 

the high volume of inpatient activity for substance misuse in this cohort in Bromley. 

Among young people, drug use is linked to increased likelihood of a range of adverse experiences 

and behaviour including; truancy, exclusion from school, homelessness, time in care and serious or 

frequent offendingxxxi.  

Further investigation of this increasing trend in hospital admissions for young people will be 

undertaken as part of the refresh of the new Children and Young People’s Health Needs Assessment 

early in 2018. 

Figure 28 

 

 

                                                           
7
 This statistic doesn’t include admissions related to alcohol, it related specifically to the 

misuse of drugs and other substances. 

Page 65



 

42 
 

Figure 29 

 

 

Ethnicity 

In keeping with the general ethnic profile of Bromley, between 75% - 80% of hospital admissions are 

among the White British. The data for White British is excluded from figure 30 below to allow for 

visibility of the difference within and between the other groups. Figure 30 shows the proportion of 

hospital admissions in the Black and Ethnic Minority groups. There has been a year on year increase 

in substance misuse admissions for people from Black or Black British background as shown in 

Figure 30 until the 27% reduction in the latest period. Admissions for Asian or Asian British are the 

lowest and have followed a steady downward trend, whilst the mixed and “other ethnic group” are 

erratic. The analysis does not allow for standardised comparison. 

Figure 30 

 

  

Page 66



 

43 
 

Geographical differences 

It has been shown that rates of hospital admission due to drugs correlate strongly with area 

deprivation. In Bromley, the most deprived wards have the highest rates of hospital admissions as 

shown in figure 31 and map 2. There is a statistically significant difference between the 4 wards with 

the highest rates of hospital admissions and 10 wards with the lowest rates as shown in the figure 

below. It is worth noting that the wards with the highest rates of admissions for substance misuse are 

home to some of the most vulnerable people in Bromley, who experience poorer health outcomes and 

have significantly lower life expectancy than the average for Bromley. 

Figure 31 

 

Page 67



 

44 
 

Map 2 

 

 

Mortality 

Drug use and drug dependence are known causes of premature mortality. In 2016, there were 3,744 

drug related deaths in England and Wales. There has been a dramatic increase in drug related deaths 

year on year since 2012 and mortality rates are now the highest since comparable records began in 

1993.  

The factors driving this increase are multiple and complex:xxxii 

- Deaths involving heroin have more than doubled from 2012 to 2015. 

- Whilst drug poisoning deaths now account for 1 in 6 deaths amongst people aged 20-30, 

there has also been a significant rise in drug related deaths in the older cohort of drug 

users (age 30-70). 

- It is likely that many more deaths are occurring in people who are aging, long term users 

of heroin who are more susceptible to the risk of drug overdose due to their worsening 

health. 

- Other factors include increasing suicides, increasing deaths among women, an increase 

in poly-drug and alcohol use, and an increase in the prescribing of some medicines 

- Deaths caused by new psychoactive substances are also increasing.  It is likely that NPS 

deaths may be under-reported because they may not be tested for during post-mortems 

as widely or comprehensively as other drugs. 

Page 68



 

45 
 

Mortality data are currently presented for two distinct groups, those where the underlying cause is  

 drug abuse/dependence on an illegal drug, and  

 drug poisoning involving a controlled drug (legal or illegal).  

Deaths from opioids may be counted in either group, depending on whether death was due to a drug-

related condition or whether it was due to overdose or poisoning. The second category includes many 

other drugs, including those that are prescribed, such as Tramadol and anti-depressants.  

Age-standardised death rates for drug misuse in England and Wales have increased since 1993, with 

peaks in 2001 and 2008, and another increase from 2013. Deaths in males have increased by 87% 

since 1993 and by 19% for women (Figure 32). 

Figure 32 

 

 

Deaths due to drug poisoning in England have showed a similar trend; with a peak in 2009, a fall until 

2012, and a year on year increase from 2013. Of the 3,744 drug poisoning deaths (involving both legal 

and illegal drugs) registered in 2016 in England and Wales, over two thirds were in males. Female 

drug misuse deaths have increased steadily from 2009, and by 52%, from 459 in 2012 to 697 in 2016. 

In 2016, males aged 40 to 49 years had the highest mortality rate from drug misuse, followed by 

males aged 30 to 39 years. 

Heroin and morphine remain the substances most commonly involved in drug poisoning deaths. 1209 

deaths involved heroin or morphine in 2016; a steady rise from 579 deaths in 2012. Deaths involving 

tramadol have fallen, with 184 deaths in 2016. However, this is still double the number seen in 2009 

(87 deaths). Deaths related to the misuse of cocaine and benzodiazepines have continued to rise 

nationally and there have been recent increases for some new psychoactive substances, like synthetic 

cannabinoids (often referred to as SCRAs)xxxiii. 

  

Page 69



 

46 
 

Deaths in Bromley 

In Bromley, there were a total of 50 drug-related deaths between 2012 and 2016. The local data 

should be treated with caution due to the small number of observed deaths. The data has been 

aggregated over a five year period to increase events to levels which are more meaningful statistically 

and allow for easier illustration of underlying trends. 

Demographic profile: Age and gender 

Of the 50 drug related deaths in Bromley in 2012 and 2016, 57% were men. In terms of age, the 

highest proportions of drug-related deaths were among those aged 30-39 years (27.5%); and 40-49 

years old (25.5%), (Figure 33). However, gender analysis by age shows the highest number of deaths 

in women, was in those aged 50-59 years and in men, those aged 30-39 years. The average age at 

the time of death was 47 years, ranging from 15 to 94 years old, and was 32 to 36 years less than the 

average life expectancy for men and women born in Bromley. 

Figure 33 

 

 

Place of Residence 

Geographical analysis by usual place of residence shows that the highest mortality rate was found in 

Darwin (27.2 deaths per 100,000 population). It should be noted, that the rates in Darwin are subject 

to bias due to small numbers. There is no observable link between drug related death rates and 

deprivation in Bromley (Figure 34). Wards with relatively high deprivation scores have low mortality 

rates (Mottingham & Chislehurst, Cray Valley West and Penge & Cator) and at the same time also 

having high rates (Orpington). Due to the small numbers, Bromley rates have wide confidence 

intervals; meaning there is likelihood that the variation between wards is not precise estimate of the 

true underlying value, apart from the difference between the ward with the highest rates (Darwin) and 

the ward with the lowest rates (Mottingham and Chislehurst North). 

Page 70



 

47 
 

Figure 34 

 

 

Cause of Death 

Table 8 shows drug related deaths in Bromley by the underlying cause of death. Accidental 

poisonings contribute hugely to the proportion of drug related deaths in both males and females both 

locally (67%) and nationally (55%). In 2016, 82% (1561) male deaths and 72% (501) female deaths 

were due to accidental poisoning in England and Wales. Due to small numbers in Bromley, deaths for 

5 years combined have been considered. In 2012/16, 69% (20) male deaths and 64% (14) female 

deaths were due to accidental poisoning.  

Table 8: Drug related deaths 2012 to 2016 

 
Source: Bromley Primary Care Mortality Database, 2017 

 

Trends 

Local numbers are too small to analyse for trends in deaths from individual drugs.  

Figures 35 and 36 show that nationally & regionally drug-related death rates have increased 

consistently since 2011/13. However in Bromley the trend is more erratic. There was a consistent rise 

in drug-related deaths between 2010/12 and 2012/14, in line with national and regional trends. 

However this was followed by a drop in local rates from 2013/15 to 2014/16. It is worth noting that 

Bromley rates are very erratic due to the relatively small number of drug –related deaths occurring 

Page 71



 

48 
 

each year, making it difficult to establish the overall direction of travel without smoothing these 

variations by analysing data over a longer time period. 

Figure 35 

 

 

Figure 36 

 

 

Mortality: deaths in those not engaged in treatment 

For many drug users, engaging in treatment is the catalyst for getting the medical help they need to 

address their physical and mental health problems. Getting drug users into treatment services is a 

challenge but is central to saving livesxxxiv. The majority of drug misuse deaths in England occur 

among people who are not in treatment, and evidence shows that being in treatment is protective 

against the risk of mortality. Modelling shows that drug treatment in England prevented an average of 

Page 72



 

49 
 

880 opioid-related poisoning deaths each year between 2008 and 2011xxxv. However every year, a 

small percentage of clients die while they are in contact with the treatment system. 

Figure 37 provides a ratio comparing the observed number of deaths among adults in treatment over 

a three year period to the expected number if the local authority experienced the same age specific 

mortality rates as the whole drug treatment population in England. The ratio in Bromley is lower than 

expected and is among the lowest in the region, even lower than local authorities in the same 

socioeconomic deprivation bracket in the region (Harrow, Merton, Sutton). This shows that services in 

Bromley are contributing to reducing the risk of death amongst those clients that engage in treatment. 

The wide overlapping confidence intervals are indicative of small numbers and there is likelihood that 

the differences seen are not a precise estimate of the true underlying value. 

Figure 37 

 

 

Figure 38 shows proportion of deaths in treatment of all the client population. National trends show 

there has been an increase in the proportion of deaths in treatment from 0.5% in 2009-10 to 1.0% in 

2016-17. The rates in Bromley have consistently remained below the England average since 2009-10. 

However it should be noted that due to the small numbers, Bromley rates are very erratic and have 

wide confidence intervals. Although the death rates are low locally and nationally, every death is a 

tragedy which is potentially preventable and one which can have devastating and far reaching 

impacts. 

Page 73



 

50 
 

Figure 38 

 

 

  

Page 74



 

51 
 

SOCIOECONOMIC IMPACT 

Today, drug misuse and dependency is associated with a range of harms including poor physical and 

mental health, unemployment, homelessness, family breakdown and criminal activity. The health and 

wellbeing of family members and carers can also be affected. Heroin and cocaine are associated with 

the majority of social costs associated with drug misusexxxvi. People with heroin dependence usually 

develop a tolerance through daily use, which can result in an expensive addiction and a motivation to 

commit acquisitive crime. It was estimated in 2009 that adult drug users not in treatment typically 

spent £94/£231 (median/mean) a week in current prices on drugs and 40% of all acquisitive crime was 

drug-relatedxxxvii. It is further estimated that, any heroin or crack user not in treatment commits crime 

costing an average £26,074 per year in England. 

As well as the social and economic impact on the individual, drug misuse causes a substantial 

economic burden to society and including costs to the health and care system and criminal justice 

system. 

 
Adapted from Public Health Englandxxxviii 

 

The social return on investment in local drug treatment services 

Investment in drug treatment can substantially reduce the economic and social costs of drug-related 

harm. Recent estimates suggest that the net cost-benefit ratio for evidence-based drug treatment in 

England is £1:£2.50, indicating that for every £1 spent on drug treatment services there is a net 

economic benefit to society of £2.50xxxix. 

Public Health England have produced estimates for local areas on the social return on investment (SROI) of 

local drug treatment services. The following provides a summary of some of the estimated gross cost-savings 

accrued to the borough of Bromley and its residents as a result of drug treatment provision in 2016/17. 

  

Page 75



 

52 
 

Crime 

Six billion of the social and economic cost of drug supply in England and Wales is attributed to drug-

related acquisitive crime such as burglary, robbery shoplifting etc. Drug-related and drug-enabled 

activities are key drivers of both new and traditional crime: the possession of illicit substances; the 

crimes committed to fund drug dependence; the production and supply of harmful substances 

perpetrated by serious and organised criminals alongside drug market violence associated with 

human trafficking and modern slavery. Drugs can also play a part in facilitating child sexual 

exploitation and abuse and the illicit use of drugs in prisons is a driver of rising violence, self-harm and 

suicidexl.  

It is estimated that, any heroin or crack user not in treatment commits crime costing an average 

£26,074 per year in England. 

PHE estimate that a total of 33,951 crimes were committed in Bromley due to drug use in 2016/17 but 

drug treatment prevented approximately a further 6500 crimes being committed in the borough. 

This reduction in crime has been estimated to be equivalent to a saving of over £2.4 million to the 

Bromley economy (the estimated socio-economic impact of the crimes avoided). 

For more information about the methodology used to calculate these cost/benefits please refer to the 

full SROI tool and guidance document available here: https://www.ndtms.net/ValueForMoney.aspx 

 

Health and Care Costs  

The cost of drug misuse to health services in England including; primary care, emergency 

departments, inpatient care, community mental health, and inpatient mental healthcare, is estimated 

at £488 million per yearxli. The cost of healthcare alone for adult drug users not in structured treatment 

is estimated to be £5,380 per person per annum. Healthcare costs are estimated to fall by 31% when 

drug users are in treatmentxlii. 

 

Page 76

https://www.ndtms.net/ValueForMoney.aspx


 

53 
 

Children and families 

 
Adapted from Public Health Englandxliii 

 

Substance misuse can reduce a parent's ability to provide care. The effects on the child can include 

neglect, educational problems, emotional difficulties and abuse. Children and young people can do 

little to protect themselves from the effects of parental substance misuse and can suffer emotional 

distress, neglect or physical injuryxliv. 

The annual cost to the family members and carers of heroin and/or crack cocaine users is estimated 

to be £2 billion. The evidence considers the costs of being a victim of crime, lost employment 

opportunities and health service use, as well as financial support given to relativesxlv. While use of 

opioids does not necessarily impact on parenting capacity, registration on UK child protection registers 

for neglect has been correlated strongly with parental heroin use, and parental problem drug use has 

been shown to be one of the commonest reasons for children being received into the care system 

(NICE guideline No 52)xlvi.  

Figure 39 shows that majority of people entering treatment were neither parents nor had contact with 

children (49% Bromley and 51% England). However, Bromley has a higher proportion, compared to 

England, of people entering treatment who live with children (23% and 20% respectively).  

There were 100 children in Bromley living with drug users who entered treatment services in 2016/17. 

Many of these families may require specialist support to help them stabilise and strengthen and 

protect their children from harm. This will have implications for health and social care services in 

Bromley who must work together to provide effective, whole-family responses for those in treatment 

who have parental responsibilities. 

Page 77



 

54 
 

Figure 39 

 

 

Social Services, Housing and Benefits 

Social factors, including housing and employment and deprivation, are associated with substance 

misuse and these social factors moderate drug treatment outcomes. Lost productivity and 

unemployment increase with the severity and duration of drug misuse. 

Unemployment has a marked negative impact on treatment outcomes and exacerbates the risk that 

someone will relapse after treatment. It is therefore important to provide longer- term employment 

support, including in-work support to help people maintain employmentxlvii.  

Figure 40 below shows self-reported employment status at the start of treatment in 2016-17. The 

majority of the clients reported unemployment or economic inactivity in Bromley (39%) and England 

(40%) at the start of their treatment. Bromley had higher proportions (24%) of those reporting being in 

work compared to England (21%) and lower proportions reporting long term sick (25% and 28% 

respectively). The high proportion of people in regular employment contributes to improved chances of 

better treatment outcomes for local clients. 

Figure 40 

 

Page 78



 

55 
 

Employment status amongst drug treatment clients is also reviewed during treatment and at exit 

Analysis of the data shows that, of the number of new entrants in Bromley self-reporting not working at 

the start of treatment, at the time of review, had reduced by 11% while the number in full time work 

had increased by 32%. At planned exit, the number reporting not in work had reduced by 17% and 

those reporting being in full time work had increased by 32%. These figures are favourable in 

comparison to the national average where the number of new clients self- reporting not working at the 

start of treatment, on review had reduced by 3% while the number in full time work had increased by 

16%. At planned exit, the number reporting not in work had reduced by 6% and those reporting being 

in full time work had increased by 23%. It is of note that, of the clients dropping out of treatment in 

Bromley, 88% (86% in England) were not in work at the start and remained out of work. Improving job 

outcomes is key to sustaining recovery and requires improved multi-agency responses.  

 

Housing and homelessness 

Evidence suggests that the relationship between substance misuse and homelessness is complex 

with both being mutually reinforcing. Homelessness is often compounded by substance misuse, as 

well as poor physical and mental healthxlviii. Substance misuse among homeless people is strongly 

associated with economic marginalisation, social isolation and mental health problems. Substance 

misuse, in itself, is not a necessary or sufficient condition for homelessness to occur as other factors 

appear to be involvedxlix.  

Figure 41 shows self- reported housing status of adults at the start of treatment. Bromley has a higher 

proportion (79%) of clients reporting no housing problem compared to England (73%) and contrariwise 

a lower proportion (6%) of clients reporting an urgent housing problem at the start of treatment 

compared to England (10%). There are similar proportions (13%) of new clients reporting a housing 

problem. Evidence shows a safe stable home environment enables people to sustain their recovery. 

These data should be interpreted in line with the overall number of decisions taken on homelessness 

applications in the area8. Bromley has a higher rate of decisions taken compared to England at 9.1 per 

1,000 households and 5.0 per 1,000 households respectively. Engaging with local housing and 

homelessness agencies can help ensure that the full spectrum of homelessness is understood and 

picked up: from statutorily homeless, single homeless people and rough sleepers to those at risk of 

homelessness. 

                                                           
8
 Data specific to drug users is unavailable  

Page 79



 

56 
 

Figure 41 

 

 

 

  

Page 80



 

57 
 

THE TREATMENT AND MANAGEMENT OF DRUG MISUSE 

 
Adapted from Public Health Englandl 
 

The main aims of treatment are:  

1. Harm reduction – preventing or reducing negative health and social consequences of drug 

use, including infections and overdose.  

2. Maintenance oriented treatments – reducing an individual’s level of drug use, mainly by 

substitute prescribing.  

3. Abstinence-oriented treatments – reducing drug use with the ultimate aim of abstinence, using 

a range of interventions including detoxification, psychosocial interventions and residential 

rehabilitation.  

Drug treatment has been evaluated across a wide range of outcome measures, including drug use, 

abstinence from drug use, drug injecting, overdose, health and mortality, crime, social functioning 

included employment, housing, family relations, and the perceptions of service users about their 

recovery status. The breadths of these measures reflect the broad range of benefits anticipated from 

drug treatment. 

The general principles of treatment are that; no single treatment is appropriate for all individuals, 

treatments should be accessible and begin when and where the service user presents, and there 

should be the capacity to address multiple needs. It is also accepted that treatments will change over 

time. Research suggests that treatment does not need to be voluntary to be successful, and is ethical 

when given as an alternative to other penal sanctionsli. 

A recent evidence liireview made the following comparisons between drug treatment outcomes in 

England and those in other countries, according to the scientific literature in England:  

- The treatment penetration rate (60%) is among the highest reported  

- Access to treatment (97% within three weeks) is comparable to other countries  

- The rate of drug injecting among all 15-64 year olds (0.25%) is relatively low  

Page 81



 

58 
 

- The rate of drop out from treatment before three and six months (18% and 34%, respectively) 

is comparable to the literature (28% on average)  

- England has a very low rate of HIV infection among the injecting drug user population (1%), 

which compares favourably internationally. The rate of HCV infection (50%) is also lower than 

several other countries with available data The rate of stopping injecting at 3, 6 and 12 

months, is comparable with, or better than, the scientific literature  

- Successful completion of treatment rates for non-opiate drug users, who only receive 

psychosocial interventions, have increased from 14% in 2005/6 to 37% in 2014/15 for non-

opiate drug and alcohol users, and from 13% in 2005/6 to 42% in 2014/15 for users of non-

opiate drugs alone  

The evidence review also pointed to two key areas where there were opportunities for improvement in 

outcomes in comparison to evidence in the scientific literature and international comparisons: 

- The rate of illicit opiate abstinence after three and also six months of treatment in England 

(46% and 48%, respectively) points to relatively poorer performance in comparison with the 

literature (56% on average)  

- The drug-related death rate in England (34 per million in 2013) is substantially lower than in 

the USA but considerably higher than elsewhere in Europe  

Public Health England recently published evidence-based commissioning prompts to support local 

commissioner’s plan and implement integrated alcohol and drugs prevention, treatment and recovery 

systems. They are based around the following six, evidence-based principles:liii 

1 Drug misuse and dependence are prevented by early identification and interventions: 

o Factors underpinning health inequalities and associated with later dependence are 

addressed in a broad range of policies and strategies.  

o A range of evidence-based prevention programmes is supported.  

o Drug misuse is identified early, and people who use drugs are offered prompt access 

to a range of early interventions, treatment and recovery support appropriate to their 

needs, at all stages of their recovery journey. 

2 There is prompt access to effective treatment 

o All people who use drugs have prompt access to a system that also provides for 

continuity of care between prison, residential and community environments. 

3 There are interventions to address the health harms of drug use: 

- All people who use drugs have prompt access to interventions to address the health 

harms of drug use, including interventions to prevent drug-related deaths and blood-borne 

viruses. 

4 Treatment is recovery-orientated, effective, high-quality and protective  

Page 82



 

59 
 

o Treatment services are high-quality, evidence-based and deliver a broad range of 

effective interventions.  

o People in treatment and their families are protected and provided with appropriate, 

quality interventions. 

5 Treatment supports people to sustain their recovery  
o The number of people successfully completing treatment is increasing, and recovery 

from dependence is sustained. 
 

6 Commissioners work with partners to commission effective alcohol and drug services 
o Policies and services are effectively integrated to achieve positive outcomes by: 

 Co-ordinated local policies to promote less risky drinking and drug use, 
and prevent harm 

 Effective partnership working between local authority-led public health, 
the NHS (clinical commissioning groups and NHS England local area 
teams), mental health services, JCP, WP providers and adult social care, 
local housing and homelessness agencies, children's services and 
criminal justice agencies  

 Supporting more alcohol and drug users into work by an effective 
partnership between the treatment and employability sectors.  

 Ensuring drug misusers have the best possible access to warm, safe and 
affordable homes that local conditions will allow. 

 Operating transparently according to assessed need 
 Bringing providers and mutual aid together into effective and efficient 

delivery systems 
 Fully involving service users and local communities, including through 

Healthwatch 
 

Further information, including prompts for practical implementation, can be found here: 

http://www.nta.nhs.uk/uploads/jsna-support-pack-prompts-adult-drug-2017-final.pdf 

In addition the UK guidelines on the clinical management of drug misuse and dependence were 

updated and re-published earlier this year. These new guidelines provide a stronger emphasis on 

recovery and the holistic interventions that can support recovery and includes new guidelines on: 

 Prison-based treatment 

 New psychoactive substances and club drugs 

 Mental health co-morbidity 

 Misuse of prescribed and over-the-counter medicines 

 Stopping smoking 

 Preventing drug-related deaths, including naloxone provision 

A copy of this guidance is available here: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/drug-misuse-

and-dependence-uk-guidelines-on-clinical-management 

  

Page 83

http://www.nta.nhs.uk/uploads/jsna-support-pack-prompts-adult-drug-2017-final.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/drug-misuse-and-dependence-uk-guidelines-on-clinical-management
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/drug-misuse-and-dependence-uk-guidelines-on-clinical-management


 

60 
 

Treatment services in Bromley 
 

Integrated treatment services for people with alcohol or drug misuse needs in Bromley are currently 

delivered by Change Grow Live (CGL). The overall aim of the service is to provide an integrated, 

recovery orientated programme of support for people with problematic alcohol and/or drug misuse to 

move them towards a position of stability, improved health and wellbeing and positive engagement in 

the community. This aim is underpinned by the following objectives: 

- To reduce harm related to substance misuse, both in terms of harm to health and social 

harm. 

- To reduce individual’s levels of substance misuse 

- To support individuals in achieving long-term abstinence 

The service has 3 components: 

1. Stabilisation and assessment 

- Provides a single point of contact, rapid assessment, triage and care co-ordination 

- Those deemed suitable for referral to substance misuse services will receive a more 

comprehensive assessment including; physical and mental well-being, the need for 

substitute prescribing, a risk assessment and any involvement with the criminal 

justice system, probation or other agencies such as care services, housing and 

education. 

- The individual will then have access to a programme of intensive interventions aimed 

at stabilising their drug and/or alcohol consumption. This may be delivered through a 

range of individual sessions with a key worker or group work. 

- All clients are also offered hepatitis B and C screening and vaccination for those 

deemed appropriate. 

 

2. Prescribing 

- Provides support for people who require stabilisation of their drug use to reduce 

dependence on the illicit drug to enable engagement in a process towards abstinence 

and recovery. This may include the prescribing of methadone (or alternative) and/or 

the delivery of a range of appropriate psychological and social interventions to 

support individuals. 

- Clients will be offered the opportunity for community detox for drugs and alcohol 

where clinically safe to do so.  Where residential detoxification and rehabilitation is 

required these are currently spot purchased by the local authority. 

- The prescribing service also provides practical support to try to resolve other issues 

which may be contributing to the service user’s misuse of substances and/or chaotic 

lifestyle. 

 

3. Recovery 

- Provides a programme of interventions to support people who are stable from 

substance misuse but not necessarily abstinent, this may include: 

Page 84



 

61 
 

i. A weekly programme of interventions delivered against the individual’s 

recovery plan 

ii. Practical support to facilitate (re)integration into mainstream services and/or 

the wider community 

iii. Peer support to individuals. 

The service interfaces with the following partners: 

Criminal Justice  
- Supporting clients who are engaged in criminal justice processes or monitoring 

- Liaising with prisons and/or courts to support clients requiring urgent prescribing 

Primary Care 
- Liase with primary care to ensure clients can fully access services & support GPs and 

other workers to deliver services to these individuals 

Mental Health 
- Work with Oxleas NHS Trust staff to maximise opportunities for the management of 

clients with co-existing drug and alcohol and mental health issues 
 

Accident and Emergency Department 
- To provide brief interventions training to A&E nurses 

- Provide a named link person for the hospital to link staff to the substance misuse care 

co-ordinators for known clients 

- Provide satellite provision within the A&E department 

 

Key factors influencing recovery 

Helping people to overcome drug dependence is a core function of the local drug treatment system. 

When engaged in and completing treatment, people use fewer illegal drugs, commit less crime, 

improve their health, and manage their lives better. This makes a real contribution to community 

safety. The data below shows the proportion of drug users who complete their treatment free of 

dependence, the progress made on people successfully completing treatment, and those successfully 

completing who do not relapse and re-enter treatment.  

Although drug treatment services treat dependence for all drugs, opiate users remain the group with 

most complex problems. In Bromley, opiate and/or crack cocaine users (OCUs) make up the 

overwhelming majority of clients in treatment, followed by users of cannabis and cocaine.  

 

  

Page 85



 

62 
 

Treatment pathways 

Analysis by substance group shows that in Bromley, the most common pathway in to treatment 

pathway for opiate clients was 'Prescribing & Psychosocial' with 95% of the referred clients attending. 

There were 23 clients who successfully completed this pathway at a successful completion rate of 

approximately 8%. Given the borough's opiate user profile, the expected successful completion rate is 

5%. The most common pathway for non-opiate clients was 'Psychosocial only' (88%), with 36% of 

clients on this pathway successfully completing, compared with an expected 41% successful 

completion rate. 

 

Intervention Type and Setting Delivered 

We know that the types of interventions delivered to service users will have an impact on their 

achievement of recovery outcomes. 

Figure 42 shows the numbers of people in Bromley receiving treatment via different available 

pathways. Bromley practice is in line with what is known about effectiveness, in that prescribing-only is 

much less effective in achieving sustained abstinence than when combined with psychological 

support. 

Figure 42 

 

  

Page 86



 

63 
 

Successful completion 

Figure 43 below shows the number of drug users who completed their drug treatment successfully 

(free of drug(s) of dependence) as a proportion of the total number in treatment for 2016/17. In that 

time period, 17% of all drug treatment clients in Bromley successfully completed treatment compared 

to 15% in England. Opiate clients have the lowest proportion of successful completions compared to 

rates for the other substance groups. Locally, 8% of opiate clients successfully completed treatment 

compared to 7% nationally. In contrast, 42% of non–opiate and 27% of non-opiate and alcohol clients 

successfully completed treatment in the same time period in Bromley. This compares to 41% and 36% 

respectively in England, showing a higher rate in non-opiate and alcohol clients in England compared 

to Bromley. 

It is noteworthy that women in Bromley presenting to treatment for opiate use had higher successful 

completion rates (12%) compared to the local men (6%) in the same category. 

Figure 43 

 

 

Successful completion trends 

In England, the number and proportion of individuals completing treatment free of dependence have 

increased from 2009-10 to a peak in 2013/14 and has since fallen (Figure 44 and 45). Opiate clients 

have the lowest proportion of successful completions compared to rates for the other substance 

groups, while non-opiates consistently have the highest completion rates. There are similar patterns of 

change across the different substance groups (Figure 45). 

Page 87



 

64 
 

Figure 44 

 

 

Figure 45 

 

 

In Bromley, the number and proportion of individuals completing treatment free of dependence have 

not followed a consistent pattern. There was a fall in 2011 from a peak in 2009-10 and then peak 

again in 2013/14 only to fall again (Figure 46 and 47). Opiate clients have the lowest proportion of 

successful completions compared to rates for the other substance groups, while non-opiates 

consistently have the highest completion rates. The rates in non-opiates and non-opiates and alcohol 

are very erratic and possibly contribute to the overall local successful completion trends (Figure 47). 

Page 88



 

65 
 

Figure 46 

 

 

Figure 47 

 

 

Successful completion and not representing 

The proportions of opiate and non-opiate clients in Bromley who successfully complete treatment and 

do not relapse and re- enter treatment also show no overall trend. The local rates have wide and 

overlapping confidence intervals, which are indicative of the small numbers and there is likelihood that 

the variation is not a precise estimate of the true underlying value (Figure 48 and 49). 

Page 89



 

66 
 

Figure 48 

 

 

Figure 49 

 

 

Length of time in treatment 

Although many individuals will require a number of separate treatment episodes spread over many 

years, most individuals who complete successfully do so within two years of treatment entry. Clients 

that have been in treatment for long periods of time (six years or over for opiate clients and over two 

years for non-opiate clients) are most likely to be entrenched users who will find it harder to 

successfully complete treatment. Current data shows that opiate clients who successfully complete 

within two years of first starting treatment have a higher likelihood of achieving sustained recovery. 

Data also shows that non opiate clients are more likely to successfully complete treatment within two 

years.  

Page 90



 

67 
 

In Bromley, there was no record of non-opiate clients in treatment for two years or more compared to 

the 3% in England. And only 1% of clients using both opiates and alcohol were in treatment for two 

years or more in Bromley compared to 4% in England. 

For opiate clients, the majority also were in treatment under two years; 63% in Bromley (compared to 

48% in England).Conversely, Bromley has lower proportions of opiate clients staying in treatment 6 

years or more compared to England at 16% and 27% respectively (Figure 50). 

Figure 50 

 
Source: PHE- JSNA Support Pack, 2017 

 

Treatment outcomes 

Treatment outcomes at 6 months 

Figure 51 presents data drawn from the Treatment Outcomes Profile (TOP), which tracks the 

progress drug users make in treatment. Data from NDTMS suggests that clients who stop using illicit 

opiates in the first six months of treatment are almost five times more likely to complete successfully 

than those who continue to use. 

Clients presenting with cocaine had the highest abstinence rates, both locally (60%) and nationally 

(66%), followed by injecting drug users (58% and 54% respectively). Bromley had similar proportions 

to England of opiate users achieving abstinence within 6 months (39%). It is noteworthy that, while 

60% of clients using amphetamines in England were abstinent within 6 months, there was no record of 

abstinence in the same population locally.  

Page 91



 

68 
 

Figure 51 

 

 

Analysis of data on abstinence in the first 6 months by substance and gender shows a varied picture. 

Where men achieved better abstinence levels for some substances (opiate, cocaine and injecting drug 

use) and women achieved higher levels on others (crack, cannabis and alcohol as the adjunctive 

drug). It is worth noting that no women injecting drugs were found to be abstinent in the first 6 months 

(Figure 52). Women presenting to treatment often experience poor mental health, domestic violence 

and abuse, which may impact upon their recovery. Unfortunately there is no data to ascertain trends 

by substance and gender. 

Figure 52 

 

 

Page 92



 

69 
 

Figure 53 shows proportions of clients significantly reducing drug use in the first six months by the 

problem drug. Although opiate clients have the lowest successful completion rates, they have the 

highest proportions of significant reductions both locally (31%) and nationally (26%). This may be 

indicative of the complex problems in this group and the work involved overcoming addiction. Higher 

proportions of the clients presenting with cocaine locally (18%) than nationally (10%) reported 

significant reduction. However, among the cannabis clients and crack clients, England had higher 

proportions (13%, 16%) than Bromley (7%, 13%) respectively. Bromley had similar proportions to 

England among clients presenting with alcohol as an adjunctive drug (17%). 

Figure 53 

 

Analysis of the same data by substance and gender locally shows a varied picture. Where men 

achieved better reduction levels for some substances (cocaine, cannabis and where alcohol as an 

adjunctive drug) and women achieved higher levels on others (opiate and crack). It is worth noting that 

no women injecting drugs were reported in this category (Figure 54). Unfortunately there is no data to 

ascertain trends. 

Figure 54 

 

Page 93



 

70 
 

Waiting times 

Drug users need prompt help if they are to recover from dependence. Local efforts to keep waiting 

times low means that the national average waiting time is less than one week. Keeping waiting times 

low plays a vital role in supporting recovery and ensuring that substance misuse treatment is 

accessible for all of those who need it. 

 Figure 55 & 56 shows that. Opiate clients, both locally (96%) and nationally (99%), had the highest 

proportion of individuals experiencing short waiting times defined as waiting three weeks or less from 

being identified as having a treatment need to being offered an appointment to start an intervention. 

Figure 55 presents trends in the proportion of individuals experiencing short waiting times in England. 

Overall, the proportion waiting three weeks or less has increased across all substance groups since 

2009-10 to 2016-17, with 99% of opiate clients in the most current year waiting 3 weeks or less to start 

an intervention. The largest improvements in waiting times have been seen in individuals presenting 

with problematic non-opiate and alcohol use. Among this group, the proportion waiting less than 3 

weeks to start an intervention has risen from 88% in 2009-10 to 98% in 2016-17. 

Figure 55 

 

 

Overall in Bromley, the proportion of people experiencing short waiting times has been increasing 

across all substance groups since 2009-10 until recently. Non-opiate and alcohol clients were the 

most affected by the longer waiting times with a 13% reduction between 2015/16 and 2016/17 (Figure 

56). 

Page 94



 

71 
 

Figure 56 

 

 

Prison release and transfer to treatment 

Figure 57 shows the percentage of individuals in 2016-17 who at the point of release from prison 

were transferred to a community treatment provider for structured treatment interventions and other 

support and were successfully engaged. 

A total of 15 HMP prisons transferred clients to drug treatment in Bromley for structured treatment 

interventions and other support in 2016/17. Of those transferred, 29% successfully engaged with 

services in Bromley compared to 33% in England. Both locally and nationally, there were higher 

numbers and proportions of transfers and engagement among opiate clients. There are no prisons 

within Bromley borough; Bromley residents are remanded all over the country which could impact on 

timely and successful transfer of individuals released from prison into treatment service. 

Figure 57 

 

Page 95



 

72 
 

Early unplanned exits 

When engaged in treatment, people use less illegal drugs, commit less crime, improve their health, 

and manage their lives better – which also benefits the community. Preventing early drop out and 

keeping people in treatment long enough to benefit contributes to these improved outcomes. As 

people progress through treatment, the benefits to them, their families and their community start to 

accrue. Unplanned exit or early drop out refers to adults entering treatment who left in an unplanned 

way before 12 weeks commonly. 

Locally the current treatment drop-out rate is lower than the national average (12% in Bromley 

compared to 17% nationally). Locally, there were higher drop-out rates among clients presenting with 

opiate abuse at 20%. In England, the rate was highest among those presenting to treatment for non-

opiate drug abuse at 18%. Analysis by gender shows that men were more likely to drop-out early 

across all substance groups both locally and nationally. 

 

Residential rehabilitation 

Drug treatment mostly takes place in the community, near to drug users’ families and support 

networks. However residential rehabilitation may be cost effective for someone who is ready for active 

change and a higher intensity treatment at any stage of their treatment, and this option is encouraged 

as part of an integrated recovery-orientated system. 

With that said, only a small number and proportion of users were in residential rehabilitation during the 

latest period of treatment. In Bromley, 2% of the adult population in drug treatment attended 

residential rehabilitation compared to 3% nationally. Local data shows that there were more men in 

attendance. 

Public Health England have published a Local Alcohol and Drugs Treatment Commissioning Tool. 

This is intended to enable local areas to assess how well they are currently meeting local treatment 

needs, identify potential ways of improving local service cost-effectiveness and to inform the planning 

of future service provision. A copy of the tool is available here: 

https://www.ndtms.net/ValueForMoney.aspx 

 

  

Page 96

https://www.ndtms.net/ValueForMoney.aspx


 

73 
 

WHAT THIS MEANS FOR THE RESIDENTS OF BROMLEY 

Substance misuse is a complex area. Individuals with substance misuse problems may also have 

other difficulties including; mental health problems, poverty, relationship issues, family breakdown, 

unemployment and involvement with the criminal justice system. In Bromley, there is also the 

challenge of an aging population of opiate users with multiple physical health problems and 

entrenched use. 

Bromley residents require specialist substance misuse services that can respond to the changing 

nature of substance misuse in the borough. The contract for existing substance misuse services for 

adults and young people in Bromley are due to expire later in 2018. A new service specification has 

been designed (incorporating the findings of this needs assessment) and new services will be 

commissioned to come into effect in December 2018. 

The new service will be presented with a number of local challenges to address including the 

following: 

 To increase numbers of individuals in treatment 

 To find innovative ways if working with older opiate users with more complex needs 

 To respond to the emerging needs of individuals using NPS and over the counter/prescribed 
medications 

 Develop strategies to prevent drug related deaths 

 To engage with problematic alcohol users who may be treatment naïve 

 Enhance partnership working with a view to understand the issues surrounding and ultimately 
address the needs for dual diagnosis clients and for reducing hospital admissions. 

 

A primary focus for the new service will be the identification and engagement of substance misusers.  

Partnership working with a range of key partners in the borough will be essential in supporting more 

individuals into treatment. This will include joint working with the Criminal Justice Services, Hospitals, 

London Borough of Bromley services including; Children’s Services, Community Health Services, the 

Voluntary Sector and Primary Care. 

Aftercare and Reintegration has been cited as important for sustained recovery. The new service will 

offer wraparound support and on-going contact as well as pathways to specialist education, housing 

and employment support and advice. 

It is anticipated that the integrated treatment system will provide a holistic service to support 

successful and sustained recovery for those who misuse substances in Bromley. Improved 

partnership working and early identification and referral will improve outcomes and treatment 

completion rates.  

  

Page 97



 

74 
 

APPENDIX 
 

Data sources and definitions 

In order to understand mortality and morbidity due to drugs for Bromley, local PCMD and Hospital 

Episodes Statistics extracts have been used. 

The Primary Care Mortality Database (PCMD) provides a list of all deaths recorded as drug 

poisoning. PCMD collates deaths by place of death, CCG of residence and date of death. The 

underlying cause of death is recorded for all deaths in the PCMD using the World Health 

Organisation’s (WHO) International Classifications of Diseases version 10 (ICD 10). The relevant 

codes are listed in a table 10 in the appendix.  

This definition of drug deaths includes accidents, suicides and assaults involving drug poisoning, as 
well as deaths from drug abuse and drug dependence. It does not include other adverse effects of 
drugs (for example anaphylactic shock). Deaths are included where one of the ICD-10 codes shown in 
the Table is the underlying cause of death. 
 
Due to various organisation and regulation changes, access to datasets (Coroner records and GP 

clinical records) that complement the PCMD extract is no longer possible. The absence of those 

datasets eliminates the soft intelligence around drug related deaths which is vital in prevention 

strategies.  

The Hospital Episodes Statistics (HES) extract pulls together inpatient and day patient hospital 

admissions for drug poisoning. The primary and secondary cause of admission is recorded for all 

admissions in the HES using the World Health Organisation’s (WHO) International Classifications of 

Diseases version 10 (ICD 10). The relevant codes are listed in a table in the appendix. 

 

Primary diagnosis is defined as the main condition treated or investigated during the relevant 

episode of healthcare, and where there is no definitive diagnosis, the main symptom, abnormal 

findings or problem. 

 

Secondary diagnosis describes those conditions that co-exist at the time of admission, or develop 

subsequently, and that affect the patient care for this current episode of care. Clinicians record up to 

19 secondary diagnoses. 

 

Other Sources: 

 Crime Survey for England and Wales 

 National Drug Treatment Monitoring system 

 Public Health England Commissioning Support Pack 2018/19 

 Public Health England JSNA support Pack, 2018/19 

 Public Health England Police and Crime Commissioners support pack, 2018/19 

 Public Health Outcomes Framework 

 

  

Page 98



 

75 
 

Data caveats for consideration 

The report specifically focuses on drug misuse to the exclusion of alcohol. However, CGL is 

contracted to offer a combined drug and alcohol treatment and support service for Bromley residents. 

Therefore data presented in this report has been cleansed of alcohol and thus may differ from the 

routine data sources listed above.  

 

The definition of drug related deaths does not include every death that involved drugs, for example, 

transport accidents where the driver was under the influence of drugs are excluded. 

In common with most other mortality statistics, figures for drug-related deaths are presented for 

deaths registered in a particular calendar year, rather than deaths occurring each year. Due to the 

length of time it takes to complete a coroner’s inquest, there can be a considerable delay between 

when the death occurred and when it was registered. The local data can be influenced by 

geographical variations in registrations delay. 

 

Hospital admissions for alcohol related and alcohol specific conditions have been excluded from the 

discussion of this report as this report specifically focuses on drugs misuse. These hospital 

admissions will be included in a separate report specific to alcohol. 

 
Table 9 

 

 

  

Underlying Cause of Death : Drug related Deaths

ICD- 10 Code Description

Y10 -Y14
Poisoning by drugs, medicaments and biological substances, 

undetermined intent

X85 Assaults by drugs, medicaments and biological substances

Mental and behavioural disorders due to drug use (excluding alcohol 

and tobacco)
F11-F16,F18-F19

X40-X44
Accidenctal poisoning by drugs, medicaments and biological 

susbtances

X60-X64
Intentional self-poisoning by drugs, medicaments and biological 

substances

Page 99



 

76 
 

References 

                                                           
i World Health Organisation (WHO). Lexicon of alcohol and Drug Terms Published by the World 
Health Organisation. 2006. [Accessed 13/11/2017] 
 
ii Aleretoxicology.co.uk (2017). UK Drug Classifications| Alere Toxicology. [online] Available at: 
https://www.aleretoxicology.co.uk/en/home/support/drug-classifications.html [Accessed 14 Nov 2017] 
 
iii HM government, (2017). 2017 Drug Strategy. [online] Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/drug-strategy-2017 [Accessed 13/11/2017] 
 
iv HM government, (2017). 2017 Drug Strategy. [online] Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/drug-strategy-2017 [Accessed 13/11/2017] 
 
v
 Burkinshaw, P., Anders, P., Knight, J., Eastwood, B., Musto, V., White, M. and Marsden, J. (2017). 

An evidence review of the outcomes that can be expected of drug misuse treatment in England. 
[online] Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence
_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf [Accessed 7/12/2017] 
 
vi
 Burkinshaw, P., Anders, P., Knight, J., Eastwood, B., Musto, V., White, M. and Marsden, J. (2017). 

An evidence review of the outcomes that can be expected of drug misuse treatment in England. 
[online] Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence
_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf [Accessed 7/12/2017] 
 
vii Public Health England (2014). Alcohol and drugs prevention, treatment and recovery: why invest. 
[online] Available at: http://www.nta.nhs.uk/uploads/why-invest-2014-alcohol-and-drugs.pdf [Accessed 
15 Nov 2017] 
 
viii Nta.nhs.uk. (2017). National Treatment Agency for Substance Misuse- Prevalence Data. [online] 
Available at: http://www.nta.nhs.uk/facts-prevalence.aspx [Accessed 15 Nov 2017]  
 
ix
 Knight, J., Brand, P., Willey, P. and Van der Merwe, J. (2017). Adults substance misuse statistics 

from the National Drug Monitoring Service (NDTMS). [online] Public Health England and Department 
of Health. Available at : 
https://www.ndtms.net/Publications/downloads/Adult%20Substance%20Misuse/Adult-statistics-from-
the-national-drug-treatment-monitoring-system-2016-17.pdf [Accessed 24/Nov/2017] 
 
x
 HM Government (2017). 2017 Drug Strategy. [online] Available at 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/628148/Drug_strategy_
2017.PDF [Accessed 12/12 2017] 
 
xi Nta.nhs.uk (2011) Addiction to medicine [online] Available at 
http://www.nta.nhs.uk/uploads/addictiontomedicinesmay2011a.pdf [Accessed 15/12/2017] 
 
xii

 Public Health England (2017) Adults - drugs commissioning support pack 2018-19: key data. 
Planning for drug prevention, treatment and recovery in adults. [online] Available at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/647095/Adult_drug_co
mmissioning_support_pack_2018-19_-_key_data.pdf [Accessed 15/12/2017] 
 

Page 100

https://www.aleretoxicology.co.uk/en/home/support/drug-classifications.html
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/drug-strategy-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/drug-strategy-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf
http://www.nta.nhs.uk/uploads/why-invest-2014-alcohol-and-drugs.pdf
http://www.nta.nhs.uk/facts-prevalence.aspx
https://www.ndtms.net/Publications/downloads/Adult%20Substance%20Misuse/Adult-statistics-from-the-national-drug-treatment-monitoring-system-2016-17.pdf
https://www.ndtms.net/Publications/downloads/Adult%20Substance%20Misuse/Adult-statistics-from-the-national-drug-treatment-monitoring-system-2016-17.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/628148/Drug_strategy_2017.PDF
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/628148/Drug_strategy_2017.PDF
http://www.nta.nhs.uk/uploads/addictiontomedicinesmay2011a.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/647095/Adult_drug_commissioning_support_pack_2018-19_-_key_data.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/647095/Adult_drug_commissioning_support_pack_2018-19_-_key_data.pdf


 

77 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                  
xiii

 Shapiro H Shapiro, H. (2015). Not for human consumption: An updated and amended status report 
on new psychoactive substances (NPS) and ‘club drugs’ in the UK. [online] Available at: 
http://www.drugwise.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/not-for-human-consumption.pdf [Accessed 15 Dec. 
2017]. 
 
xiv

 Shapiro H Shapiro, H. (2015). Not for human consumption: An updated and amended status report 
on new psychoactive substances (NPS) and ‘club drugs’ in the UK. [online] Available at: 
http://www.drugwise.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/not-for-human-consumption.pdf [Accessed 15 Dec. 
2017]. 
 
xv

 Public Health England (2017) Adults - drugs commissioning support pack 2018-19: key data. 
Planning for drug prevention, treatment and recovery in adults. [online] Available at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/647095/Adult_drug_co
mmissioning_support_pack_2018-19_-_key_data.pdf [Accessed 15/12/2017] 
 
xvi

 Shapiro H Shapiro, H. (2015). Not for human consumption: An updated and amended status report 
on new psychoactive substances (NPS) and ‘club drugs’ in the UK. [online] Available at: 
http://www.drugwise.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/not-for-human-consumption.pdf [Accessed 15 Dec. 
2017]. 
 
xvii

 DrugWise. (2017). Is drug use mainly in deprived areas?. [online] Available at: 
http://www.drugwise.org.uk/is-drug-use-mainly-in-deprived-areas/ [Accessed 20 Dec. 2017 
 
xviii

 Burkinshaw, P., Anders, P., Knight, J., Eastwood, B., Musto, V., White, M. and Marsden, J. (2017). 
An evidence review of the outcomes that can be expected of drug misuse treatment in England. 
[online] Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence
_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf [Accessed 20/12/2017] 
 
xix

 Drugabuse.gov. (2017). Treatment Approaches for Drug Addiction. [online] Available at 
https://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/drugfacts/treatment-approaches-drug-addiction Accessed 
15/12/2017] 
 
xx Public Health England (2014). Alcohol and drugs prevention, treatment and recovery: why invest. 
[online] Available at: http://www.nta.nhs.uk/uploads/why-invest-2014-alcohol-and-drugs.pdf [Accessed 
15 Nov 2017] 
 
xxi

 Public Health England (2017). Better care for people with co-occurring mental health and 
alcohol/drug use conditions: A guide for commissioners and service providers. [online] Available at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/625809/Co-
occurring_mental_health_and_alcohol_drug_use_conditions.pdf [Accessed 7/12/2017] 
 
xxii

 Public Health England (2017). Better care for people with co-occurring mental health and 
alcohol/drug use conditions: A guide for commissioners and service providers. [online] Available at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/625809/Co-
occurring_mental_health_and_alcohol_drug_use_conditions.pdf [Accessed 7/12/2017] 
 
xxiii Crome I B. (2006). An epridemiological perspective of psychiatric comorbidity and substance 
misuse: The UK experience/ example in Baldacchino, A and Corkery, J (Eds.) Comorbidity: 
Perspectives Across Europe (ECCAS Monography No 4) pp. 45-60 [Accessed 4/12/2017] 
 

Page 101

http://www.drugwise.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/not-for-human-consumption.pdf
http://www.drugwise.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/not-for-human-consumption.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/647095/Adult_drug_commissioning_support_pack_2018-19_-_key_data.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/647095/Adult_drug_commissioning_support_pack_2018-19_-_key_data.pdf
http://www.drugwise.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/not-for-human-consumption.pdf
http://www.drugwise.org.uk/is-drug-use-mainly-in-deprived-areas/
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf
https://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/drugfacts/treatment-approaches-drug-addiction
http://www.nta.nhs.uk/uploads/why-invest-2014-alcohol-and-drugs.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/625809/Co-occurring_mental_health_and_alcohol_drug_use_conditions.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/625809/Co-occurring_mental_health_and_alcohol_drug_use_conditions.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/625809/Co-occurring_mental_health_and_alcohol_drug_use_conditions.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/625809/Co-occurring_mental_health_and_alcohol_drug_use_conditions.pdf


 

78 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                  
xxiv

 Marsden, J. (2000). Psychiatric symptoms among clients seeking treatment for drug dependence: 
Intake data from the National Treatment Outcome Research Study. The British Journal of Psychiatry, 
176 (3), pp. 285-289. [Accessed 4/12/2017] 
 
xxv

 Burkinshaw, P., Anders, P., Knight, J., Eastwood, B., Musto, V., White, M. and Marsden, J. (2017). 
An evidence review of the outcomes that can be expected of drug misuse treatment in England. 
[online] Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence
_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf [Accessed 7/12/2017] 
 
xxvi

 Public Health England, Health Protection Scotland, Public Health Wales and Public Health Agency 
Northern Ireland (2017). Shooting Up: Infections among people who injected drugs in the UK, 2015. 
London: Public Health England, November 2016. [online] Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/567231/Shooting_Up_2
016_Update.pdf [Accessed 6/12/2017] 
 
xxvii

 Public Health England, Health Protection Scotland, Public Health Wales and Public Health Agency 
Northern Ireland (2017). Shooting Up: Infections among people who injected drugs in the UK, 2015. 
London: Public Health England, November 2016. [online] Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/567231/Shooting_Up_2
016_Update.pdf [Accessed 6/12/2017] 
 
xxviii

 Public Health England, Health Protection Scotland, Public Health Wales and Public Health Agency 
Northern Ireland (2017). Shooting Up: Infections among people who injected drugs in the UK, 2015. 
London: Public Health England, November 2016. [online] Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/567231/Shooting_Up_2
016_Update.pdf [Accessed 6/12/2017] 
 
xxix

 HM Government (2017). 2017 Drug Strategy. [online] Available at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/628148/Drug_strategy_
2017.PDF [Accessed 12/12 2017 
 
xxx

 Stoove’, M.A, Dietze, P.M. and Jolley, D. (2009). Overdose deaths following previous non-fatal 
heroin overdose:record linkage of ambulance attendance and death registry data. Drug and Alcohol 
Review 28, pp. 347-352.[online] Available at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19594787 
Accessed 15/12/2017 
 
xxxi

 Public Health England (2017) Adults - drugs commissioning support pack 2018-19: key data. 
Planning for drug prevention, treatment and recovery in adults. [online] Available at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/647095/Adult_drug_co
mmissioning_support_pack_2018-19_-_key_data.pdf [Accessed 15/12/2017] 
 
xxxii

 Burkinshaw, P., Anders, P., Knight, J., Eastwood, B., Musto, V., White, M. and Marsden, J. (2017). 
An evidence review of the outcomes that can be expected of drug misuse treatment in England. 
[online] Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence
_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf [Accessed 7/12/2017] 
 
xxxiii

 Public Health England: National Intelligence Network (2016). Drug health harms – national 
intelligence. [online] Available at: http://www.nta.nhs.uk/uploads/national-intelligence-network-on-drug-
health-harms-021215.pdf [Accessed 15 Dec. 2017]. 

Page 102

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/567231/Shooting_Up_2016_Update.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/567231/Shooting_Up_2016_Update.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/567231/Shooting_Up_2016_Update.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/567231/Shooting_Up_2016_Update.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/567231/Shooting_Up_2016_Update.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/567231/Shooting_Up_2016_Update.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/628148/Drug_strategy_2017.PDF
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/628148/Drug_strategy_2017.PDF
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19594787
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/647095/Adult_drug_commissioning_support_pack_2018-19_-_key_data.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/647095/Adult_drug_commissioning_support_pack_2018-19_-_key_data.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf
http://www.nta.nhs.uk/uploads/national-intelligence-network-on-drug-health-harms-021215.pdf
http://www.nta.nhs.uk/uploads/national-intelligence-network-on-drug-health-harms-021215.pdf


 

79 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                  
 
xxxiv

 Fenton, K. (2017). Health Matters: Preventing drug misuse deaths-public health matters. [online] 
publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk. Available at: 
https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2017/03/01/health-matters-preventing-drug-misuse-deaths/ 
 [Accessed 7/12/2017] 
 
xxxv Fenton, K. (2017). Health Matters: Preventing drug misuse deaths-public health matters. [online] 
publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk. Available at: 
https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2017/03/01/health-matters-preventing-drug-misuse-deaths/ 
 [Accessed 7/12/2017] 
 
xxxvi

 Burkinshaw, P., Anders, P., Knight, J., Eastwood, B., Musto, V., White, M. and Marsden, J. (2017). 
An evidence review of the outcomes that can be expected of drug misuse treatment in England. 
[online] Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence
_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf [Accessed 7/12/2017] 
 
xxxvii

 Burkinshaw, P., Anders, P., Knight, J., Eastwood, B., Musto, V., White, M. and Marsden, J. (2017). 
An evidence review of the outcomes that can be expected of drug misuse treatment in England. 
[online] Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence
_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf [Accessed 7/12/2017] 
 
xxxviii

 Public Health England (2014). Alcohol and drugs prevention, treatment and recovery: why invest. 
[online] Available at: http://www.nta.nhs.uk/uploads/why-invest-2014-alcohol-and-drugs.pdf [Accessed 
15 Nov 2017] 
 
xxxix

 Burkinshaw, P., Anders, P., Knight, J., Eastwood, B., Musto, V., White, M. and Marsden, J. (2017). 
An evidence review of the outcomes that can be expected of drug misuse treatment in England. 
[online] Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence
_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf Accessed 20/12/2017 
 
xl
 HM Government (2017). 2017 Drug Strategy. [online] Available at 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/628148/Drug_strategy_
2017.PDF [Accessed 12/12 2017] 
 
xli

 Public Health England (2014). Alcohol and drugs prevention, treatment and recovery: why invest. 
[online] Available at: http://www.nta.nhs.uk/uploads/why-invest-2014-alcohol-and-drugs.pdf [Accessed 
15 Nov 2017] 
 
xlii

 Burkinshaw, P., Anders, P., Knight, J., Eastwood, B., Musto, V., White, M. and Marsden, J. (2017). 
An evidence review of the outcomes that can be expected of drug misuse treatment in England. 
[online] Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence
_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf [Accessed 7/12/2017] 
 
xliii

 Public Health England (2014). Alcohol and drugs prevention, treatment and recovery: why invest. 
[online] Available at: http://www.nta.nhs.uk/uploads/why-invest-2014-alcohol-and-drugs.pdf [Accessed 
15 Nov 2017] 
 

Page 103

https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2017/03/01/health-matters-preventing-drug-misuse-deaths/
https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2017/03/01/health-matters-preventing-drug-misuse-deaths/
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf
http://www.nta.nhs.uk/uploads/why-invest-2014-alcohol-and-drugs.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/628148/Drug_strategy_2017.PDF
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/628148/Drug_strategy_2017.PDF
http://www.nta.nhs.uk/uploads/why-invest-2014-alcohol-and-drugs.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf
http://www.nta.nhs.uk/uploads/why-invest-2014-alcohol-and-drugs.pdf


 

80 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                  
xliv

 HM Government (2017). 2017 Drug Strategy. [online] Available at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/628148/Drug_strategy_
2017.PDF [Accessed 12/12 2017] 
 
xlv

 Burkinshaw, P., Anders, P., Knight, J., Eastwood, B., Musto, V., White, M. and Marsden, J. (2017). 
An evidence review of the outcomes that can be expected of drug misuse treatment in England. 
[online] Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence
_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf [Accessed 7/12/2017] 
 
xlvi

 Drug misuse. The NICE guideline. No. 52. 2008 
 
xlviiBurkinshaw, P., Anders, P., Knight, J., Eastwood, B., Musto, V., White, M. and Marsden, J. (2017). 
An evidence review of the outcomes that can be expected of drug misuse treatment in England. 
[online] Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence
_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf [Accessed 20/12/2017] 
 
xlviii HM Government (2017). 2017 Drug Strategy. [online] Available at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/628148/Drug_strategy_
2017.PDF [Accessed 12/12 2017] 
 
xlix

 Pleace, N. (2008).Scottish Government Social Research Effective services for substance misuse 
and homelessness in Scotland: Evidence from an international review. [online] Available at: 
http://www.gov.scot/Resource/Doc/233172/0063910.pdf [Accessed 12/12 2017] 
 
l
 Public Health England (2014). Alcohol and drugs prevention, treatment and recovery: why invest. 
[online] Available at: http://www.nta.nhs.uk/uploads/why-invest-2014-alcohol-and-drugs.pdf [Accessed 
15 Nov 2017] 
 
li Drugabuse.gov. (2017). Treatment Approaches for Drug Addiction. [online] Available at 
https://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/drugfacts/treatment-approaches-drug-addiction Accessed 
15/12/2017] 
 
lii
 Burkinshaw, P., Anders, P., Knight, J., Eastwood, B., Musto, V., White, M. and Marsden, J. (2017). 

An evidence review of the outcomes that can be expected of drug misuse treatment in England. 
[online] Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence
_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf [Accessed 20/12/2017] 
 
liii

 Public Health England (2017) Adults - drugs commissioning support pack 2018-19: key data. 
Planning for drug prevention, treatment and recovery in adults. [online] Available at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/647095/Adult_drug_co
mmissioning_support_pack_2018-19_-_key_data.pdf [Accessed 15/12/2017] 
 

Page 104

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/628148/Drug_strategy_2017.PDF
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/628148/Drug_strategy_2017.PDF
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/628148/Drug_strategy_2017.PDF
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/628148/Drug_strategy_2017.PDF
http://www.gov.scot/Resource/Doc/233172/0063910.pdf
http://www.nta.nhs.uk/uploads/why-invest-2014-alcohol-and-drugs.pdf
https://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/drugfacts/treatment-approaches-drug-addiction
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/586111/PHE_Evidence_review_of_drug_treatment_outcomes.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/647095/Adult_drug_commissioning_support_pack_2018-19_-_key_data.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/647095/Adult_drug_commissioning_support_pack_2018-19_-_key_data.pdf


  

1 

Report No. 
FSD18024 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 
 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: PUBLIC PROTECTION & SAFETY PORTFOLIO HOLDER 

Date:  
For pre-decision scrutiny by the Public Protection & Safety PDS 
Committee on 6th March 2018 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 
 

Executive 
 

Non-Key 
 

Title: CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING - 3RD QUARTER 2017/18 
& CAPITAL STRATEGY 2018 TO 2022 
 

Contact Officer: James Mullender, Principal Accountant 
Tel: 020 8313 4292    E-mail:  james.mullender@bromley.gov.uk 
 

Chief Officer: Director of Finance 

Ward: All Wards 

 
1. Reason for report 

 On 7th February 2018, the Executive received a report summarising the current position on 
capital expenditure and receipts following the 3rd quarter of 2017/18 and presenting for approval 
the new capital schemes in the annual capital review process. The Executive agreed a revised 
Capital Programme for the five year period 2017/18 to 2021/22. This report highlights changes 
agreed by the Executive in respect of the Capital Programme for the Public Protection and 
Safety Portfolio. The revised programme for this portfolio is set out in Appendix A and detailed 
comments on scheme progress as at the end of the 3rd quarter of 2017/18 are shown in 
Appendix B. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATION 

 The Portfolio Holder is asked to note and confirm the changes agreed by the Executive 
on 7th February 2018. 

 

Page 105

Agenda Item 14a



  

2 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Existing Policy: Capital Programme monitoring is part of the planning and review 
process for all services. Capital schemes help to maintain and improve the quality of life in the 
borough.  Effective asset management planning (AMP) is a crucial corporate activity if a local 
authority is to achieve its corporate and service aims and objectives and deliver its services. For 
each of our portfolios and service priorities, we review our main aims and outcomes through the 
AMP process and identify those that require the use of capital assets. Our primary concern is to 
ensure that capital investment provides value for money and matches the Council’s overall 
priorities as set out in the Community Plan and in “Building a Better Bromley”.  

 

2. BBB Priority: Excellent Council   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: Not Applicable  
 

2. Ongoing costs: Not Applicable  
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: Capital Programme 
 

4. Total current budget for this head: £13k for the PP&S Portfolio over the five years 2017/18 to 
2021/22 

 

5. Source of funding:  Capital receipts  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Staff 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional):  1 fte   
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours:  36 hours per week   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Non-Statutory - Government Guidance  
 

2. Call-in: Applicable   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): N/A   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? N/A  
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:  N/A 
 

Page 106



  

3 

3. COMMENTARY 

 Capital Monitoring – variations agreed by the Executive on 7th February 2018 

3.1 A revised Capital Programme was approved by the Executive on 7th February 2018, following a 
detailed monitoring exercise carried out after the 3rd quarter of 2017/18. The Executive also 
considered and approved new capital schemes in the annual capital review process. The base 
position is the programme approved by the Executive on 6th December 2017, as amended by 
variations approved at subsequent Executive meetings. Changes to the Public Protection and 
Safety Portfolio are shown in the table below. The revised programme for this portfolio is set out 
in Appendix A. Detailed comments on scheme progress as at the end of the third quarter of 
2017/18 are shown in Appendix B. 

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

TOTAL 

2017/18 to 

2021/22

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Programme approved by Executive 06/12/17 13 0 0 0 0 13

Variations approved by Executive 07/02/18 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Revised PP&S Programme 13 0 0 0 0 13

 

3.2 Schemes re-phased from 2017/18 into future years 

There were no re-phasings carried out during the 3rd quarter monitoring exercise. This quarterly 
report will monitor the future position and will highlight any schemes where rephasing is 
required.  

Annual Capital Review – new scheme proposals 

3.3 In recent years, the Council has steadily scaled down new capital expenditure plans and has 
transferred all of the rolling maintenance programmes to the revenue budget. General (un-
earmarked) reserves, established from the disposal of housing stock and the Glades Site, have 
been gradually spent and have fallen from £131m in 1997 to £44.1m (including unapplied 
capital receipts) as at 31st March 2017. The Council’s asset disposal programme has 
diminished and any new capital spending will effectively have to be met from the Council’s 
remaining revenue reserves. 

3.4 As part of the normal annual review of the Capital Programme, Chief Officers were invited to 
come forward with bids for new capital investment, including Invest to Save bids which were 
particularly encouraged. No bids for new schemes were received for the Public Protection and 
Safety Portfolio. 
 
Post-Completion Reports  
 

3.5 Under approved Capital Programme procedures, capital schemes should be subject to a post-
completion review within one year of completion. After major slippage of expenditure in prior 
years, Members confirmed the importance of these as part of the overall capital monitoring 
framework. These reviews should compare actual expenditure against budget and evaluate the 
achievement of the scheme’s non-financial objectives. No post-completion reports are currently 
due for the PP&S Portfolio, but this quarterly report will monitor the future position and will 
highlight any further reports required.  

 
 

Page 107



  

4 

4. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 Capital Programme monitoring and review is part of the planning and review process for all 
services. 

5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 These were reported in full to Executive on 7th February 2018. Changes agreed by the 
Executive for the Public Protection and Safety Portfolio Capital Programme are set out in 
paragraph 3.1. 

Non-Applicable Sections: Legal, Personnel & Procurement Implications, Impact on 
Vulnerable Adults and Children 

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact 
Officer) 

Capital Programme Monitoring –3rd quarter report (Executive 
07/02/18) 
 

 

Page 108



Appendix A

PUBLIC PROTECTION & SAFETY PORTFOLIO - APPROVED CAPITAL PROGRAMME 7TH FEBRUARY 2018
Code Capital Scheme/Project Total 

Approved 
Estimate

Actual to 
31.03.17

Estimate 
2017/18

Estimate 
2018/19

Estimate 
2019/20

Estimate 
2020/21

Responsible 
Officer

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

939446 CCTV Control room - refurbishment 340 327 13 0 0 0 Jim McGowan

TOTAL PUBLIC PROTECTION & SAFETY PORTFOLIO 340 327 13 0 0 0

Appendix B

PUBLIC PROTECTION & SAFETY PORTFOLIO - QUARTER 3 2017/18

Code Capital Scheme/Project

Approved 
Estimate 
Dec 2017

Revised 
Estimate 
Feb 2018

Actual to 
20.02.18

£'000 £'000 £'000

939446 CCTV Control room - refurbishment 13 13 Cr   34

TOTAL PUBLIC PROTECTION & SAFETY PORTFOLIO 13 13 Cr   34

The scheme has completed and in defect period. A sum of 
retention has been applied, the system will need to run 
successfully for a period of 12 months before final 
payment is made. This scheme will be reviewed, and any 
residual balance will be removed from the capital  
programme in due course.

Responsible Officer Comments

P
age 109



T
his page is left intentionally blank



  

1 

Report No. 
FSD18031 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 
 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: Public Protection and Safety Portfolio Holder 
 
For Pre-decision scrutiny by the Public Protection & Safety 
PDS Committee on 

Date:  6th Match 2018 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 
 

 Non-Key 
 

Title: BUDGET MONITORING 2017/18 

Contact Officer: Claire Martin, Head of Finance 
Tel:  020 8313 4286   E-mail:  claire.martin@bromley.gov.uk 

Chief Officer: Nigel Davies, Executive Director of Environmental and Community Services 

Ward: Boroughwide 

 
1. Reason for report 

 This report provides an update of the latest budget monitoring position for 2017/18 for the Public 
Protection and Safety Portfolio based on expenditure and activity levels up to 31 December 
2017. This shows an under spend of £41k. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 

2.1 The Portfolio Holder is requested to:   

2.1.1  Endorse the latest 2017/18 budget projection for the Public Protection and Safety 
Portfolio. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 111

Agenda Item 14b



  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 
1. Summary of Impact: None directly from this report.  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Existing Policy:  Sound financial management 
 

2. BBB Priority: Excellent Council  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: Not Applicable  
 

2. Ongoing costs: Recurring Cost  
 

3. Budget head/performance centre:  Public Protection & Safety Portfolio Budget 
 

4. Total current budget for this head: £2.5m  
 

5. Source of funding:  Existing revenue budgets 2017/18  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Staff 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional):  48.2 ftes   
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours:  N/A  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Statutory Requirement: The statutory duties relating to financial reporting 
are covered within the Local Government Act 1972; the Local Government Finance Act 1998; 
the Accounts and Audit Regulations 1996; the Local Government Act 2000 and the Local 
Government Act 2002 

 

2. Call-in: Applicable 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications:  None directly from this report.  
 

 
Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected):  The services covered in this 
report affect all Council Taxpayers, Business Ratepayers, those who owe general income to the 
Council, all staff, Members and Pensioners.  

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Not Applicable  
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:        
 

Page 112



  

3 

3. COMMENTARY 

3.1 The 2017/18 projected outturn is detailed in Appendix 1, with a forecast of projected spend for 
 each division compared to the latest approved budget and identifies in full the reason for any 
 variances. 

3.2 Costs attributable to individual services have been classified as “controllable” and “non-
controllable” in Appendix 1. Budget holders have full responsibility for those budgets classified 
as “controllable” as any variations relate to those factors over which the budget holder has, in 
general, direct control. “Non-controllable” budgets are those which are managed outside of 
individual budget holder’s service and, as such, cannot be directly influenced by the budget 
holder in the shorter term. These include, for example, building maintenance costs and 
property rents which are managed by the Property Division but are allocated within individual 
departmental/portfolio budgets to reflect the full cost of the service. As such, any variations 
arising are shown as “non-controllable” within services but “controllable” within the Resources 
Portfolio. Other examples include cross departmental recharges and capital financing costs. 
This approach, which is reflected in financial monitoring reports to budget holders, should 
ensure clearer accountability by identifying variations within the service that controls financial 
performance. Members should specifically refer to the “controllable” budget variations relating 
to portfolios in considering financial performance. These variations will include the costs 
related to the recession.  

4. IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS AND CHILDREN  

4.1 The 2017/18 budget reflects the financial impact of the Council’s strategies and service plans 
which impact on all of the Council’s customers and users of our services.  

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

5.1  “Building a Better Bromley” refers to the Council’s intention to remain amongst the lowest 
Council Tax levels in Outer London and the importance of greater focus on priorities. 

5.2 The “2017/18 Council Tax” report highlighted the financial pressures facing the Council. It 
remains imperative that budgetary control continues to be exercised in 2017/18 to minimise the 
risk of compounding financial pressures in future years. 

5.3 Chief Officers and Departmental Heads of Finance are continuing to place emphasis on the 
need for strict compliance with the Council’s budgetary control and monitoring arrangements. 

6.  FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 The latest projections from managers show that there is a projected under spend of £41k 
expected for the Public Protection and Safety Portfolio for 2017/18 based on financial 
information available to 31 December 2017. However, after excluding the net carry forward 
request of £67k, there is a projected overspend of £26k. Within this projection there are 
variations which are detailed in Appendix 1 and summarised below: -  

6.2 Recent information provided by LB Croydon for the expected costs of the Coroners Service 
have meant that an over spend of £135k is expected for 2017/18. This cost is partly offset by an 
under spend of £35k from the Mortuary contract due to lower charges than the previous contract 
as well as the release of a £40k provision which is no longer required. 

6.3 The net increase in costs for the Coroners service in future years is expected to be at least 
£106k based on the latest information available from the LB of Croydon. Officers will be meeting 
with Croydon to substantiate the figures and the final figures will be reported back to Members. 

Page 113



  

4 

6.4 Other variances include an underspend of £13k as a result of part year vacancies, £67k due to 
delays in filling the new posts that the Executive agreed in July 2017 and additional net income 
of £21k from licences for houses in multiple occupation. 

6.5 The table below summarises the main variances: - 

 

Summary of Main Variances £'000

Coroners Service 135

Mortuary Service Cr      35

Release of provision no longer required Cr      40

Staff vacancies Cr      13

Delays in recruiting to the new posts Cr      67

Income from licences related to houses in mulltiple occupation Cr      21

Cr      41  

 Carry Forward Requests 

6.6 The Executive will be asked to agree the following carry forward requests in principle, with the 
final figures being agreed when the draft outturn report is submitted in June 2018: - 

 

 

£

Additional 

resources - 

delay in 

recruitment

Due to delays in recruiting to the 18 month fixed term post of Interim Assistant 

Director of Public Protection and the additional fixed term Food Safety Officers 

posts, £52k will need to be carried forward to 2019/20 and £15k will need to be 

carried forward to 2020/21 to complete the outstanding inspections. In total, the 

Executive will be asked to approve a carry forward request of £67k to enable the 

temporary posts to be funded for the remaining agreed term.

67,000

Proceeds of 

Crime Act 

Prosecution

Officers have recently received notification from the Home Office that a further 

£118k additional funding has been allocated to Bromley from the Proceeds of 

Crime Act prosecution, giving a total sum of £144.4k. £59.8k of this funding has 

been allocated to the Trading Standard Service (within the PPS Portfolio) and 

£84.6k of this sum has been allocated to the Planning Service (within the R&R 

portfolio).  As this notification has been received so late in the year, only £11k will 

be spent in 2017/18, a request to carry forward both the expenditure and income 

budgets of £133.4k will be submitted in order to carry out works on asset recovery, 

crime reduction projects and community projects in the next financial year. 

48,100

115,100

Cr  48,100

67,000

2017/18 Carry forward Requests

Total Expenditure

Income

Total (net of income)

 

 

Non-Applicable Sections: Legal, Procurement and Personnel Implications 

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact Officer) 

2017/18 budget monitoring files within ECS 
finance section 

 

Page 114



APPENDIX 1A

Public Protection & Safety Budget Monitoring Summary

2016/17 2017/18 2017/18 2017/18 Variation Notes Variation Full Year

Actuals Service Areas Original Latest Projected Last Effect

Budget Approved Outturn Reported

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Public Protection

108        Community Safety 142           142            140             2Cr           1 0               0               

77          Emergency Planning 83             102            102             0             0               0               

508        Mortuary & Coroners Service 403           403            463             60           2 46             0               

1,187     Public Protection 1,335        1,444         1,345          99Cr         3 16Cr          0               

1,880     TOTAL CONTROLLABLE 1,963        2,091         2,050          41Cr        30             0               

270        TOTAL NON CONTROLLABLE 3               3                3                 0             0               0               

262        TOTAL EXCLUDED RECHARGES 374           374            374             0             0               0               

2,412     PORTFOLIO TOTAL 2,340        2,468         2,427          41Cr        30             0               

Reconciliation of Latest Approved Budget £'000

Original Budget 2017/18 2,340

Additional resources for staffing (Exec 9.8.17)

       - Approved by Exec 9.8.17 159            

       - Delay in recruitment 31Cr            

Proceeds of Crime Act Prosecution Expenditure 60              

Proceeds of Crime Act Prosecution Income 60Cr            

Latest Approved Budget for 2017/18 2,468         

1 Page 115



APPENDIX 1B

1. Community Safety Cr £2k

2. Mortuary and Coroners Service Dr £60k

Summary of variations within Mortuary and Coroners: £'000

Release of provision no longer required   40Cr       

Overspend on Coroners service - increased costs 70

Estimated cost of large inquests 65

Potential underspend on Mortuary   35Cr       

Total variations within Mortuary and Coroners 60

3. Public Protection Cr £99k

Summary of variations within Public Protection: £'000

Underspend on staffing   80Cr       

Additional income from House in Multiple Occupation license   20Cr       

Minor overspend on Supplies and Services 1

Total variations within Public Protection   99Cr       

EARLY WARNING

Waiver of Financial Regulations:

Virements Approved to date under Director's Delegated Powers

Details of virements actioned by Chief Officers under delegated authority under the Financial Regulations "Scheme of Virement" 

will be included in financial monitoring reports to the Portfolio Holder.  Since the last report to Executive, no virements have been 

actioned.

REASONS FOR VARIATIONS

The Coroner's consortium costs escalated in 2016/17. A total provision of £466k was provided for in 2016/17, which included the 

estimated costs of £128k for the refurbishment of the new offices for the Coroner's service in Davis House. The final cost for 

2016/17 was £426k, which included Bromley's share of the Davis House refurbishment costs of £114k. As a result, £40k of the 

provision is no longer required.

Based on the latest information from Croydon, the cost for Bromley for 2017/18 is £340k, an overspend of £70k against a budget 

of £270k. This includes additional costs for the Lewis case and the Hanley case. It is likely that there will be a further one-off cost 

of £65k resulting from other large inquests being undertaken during 2017/18.

The Mortuary contract is anticipated to be at a similar level as 2016/17, and is likely to underspend by £35k. This will help to offset 

the increase in costs of the coroners service. 

A net underspend of £99k is projected for Public Protection. This includes £80k underspend on staffing of which £13k is due to part 

year vacancies and £67k is the result of delays in the recruitment of the Interim PPS Strategic Commissioner and 3 additional 

temporary Food Safety Officers (as approved by Member in July 2017) to deal with the existing backlog. A request will be 

submitted to the Executive to carry this amount forward to 2019/20 and 2020/21, in order to complete the outstanding inspections. 

The Council’s Contract Procedure Rules state that where the value of a contract exceeds £50k and is to be exempted from the 

normal requirement to obtain competitive quotations, the Chief Officer has to obtain the agreement of the Director of Resources 

and Finance Director and (where over £100,000) approval of the Portfolio Holder, and report use of this exemption to Audit Sub 

committee bi-annually. Since the last report to the Executive, no waivers have been actioned:

There are minor underspends across supplies and services of £2k.

Officers have recently received notification from the Home Office that a further £118k additional funding has been allocated to 

Bromley from the Proceeds of Crime Act prosecution, giving a total sum of £144k. £59.8k of this funding has been allocated to the 

Trading Standard Service. As this notification has been received so late in the year, only £11.7k will be spent in 2017-18, a request 

to carry forward both the expenditure and income budgets of £48.1k will be submitted in order to carry out works on asset 

recovery, crime reduction projects and community projects in the next financial year. A separate report is included elsewhere in the 

agenda.

It is anticipated that there will be £20k additional licence fee income from Houses in Multiple Occupation. This is offset by a net £1k 

minor overspend on Supplies and Services. 

Page 116



  

1 

Report No. 
ES18024 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 
 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: PUBLIC PROTECTION AND SAFETY PORTFOLIO HOLDER 
 
FOR PRE-DECSION SCRUTINY BY THE PUBLIC PROTECTION 
& SAFETY PDS COMMITTEE ON  

Date:  6th March 

Decision Type: Urgent Non-Urgent 
 

Executive Non-Executive 
 

Key Non-Key 
 

Title: PREVENT UPDATE 
 

Contact Officer: Rob Vale, Trading Standards & Community Safety Manager 
Tel: 020 8313 4785    E-mail:  Rob.Vale@bromley.gov.uk 
 

Chief Officer: Nigel Davies, Executive Director of Environment & Community Services 

Ward: (All Wards); 

 
1. Reason for report 

This report updates a report in March 2017 when the Portfolio Holder was asked to approve the 
Prevent Strategy. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 

The Portfolio Holder is asked to approve the recommendations for the key priorities going 
forward for the next 12 months at para 3.10. 

 

Page 117

Agenda Item 14c



  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 
1. Summary of Impact: Safeguarding children and vulnerable adults is an overriding professional 

duty for the local authority, health and social care practitioners. Prevent action works in the pre-
criminal space, before someone has committed a crime and is about safeguarding those who 
may be vulnerable to radicalisation.   

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Existing Policy:  Further Details: to ensure children and vulnerable adults at risk to 
being drawn into terrorism are referred existing pathways.  

 

2. BBB Priority: Children and Young People Safe Bromley Supporting Independence:  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: Not Applicable:  
 

2. Ongoing costs: Not Applicable:  
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: Community Safety Management (Project expenses) 
 

4. Total current budget for this head: £8.3k 
 

5. Source of funding: Existing revenue Budget 2017/18 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional):   3.3 
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours:   NA 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Statutory Requirement: section 26 of the Counter Terrorism and Security 
Act 2015 

 

2. Call-in: Applicable:   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications:  NA 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected):  All residents 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Not Applicable  
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:   
 

Page 118



  

3 

3. COMMENTARY 

3.1 Section 26 of the Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015 places a duty on local authorities in 
the exercise of their functions to have “due regard to the need to prevent people from being 
drawn into terrorism”.  Prevent is one of the four strands of the government’s counter terrorism 
strategy, and aims to stop people becoming terrorists and supporting terrorism. The other three 
strands are  
 

 PURSUE: to stop terrorist attacks 

 PROTECT: to strengthen our protection against terrorist attacks 

 PREPARE: where an attack cannot be stopped, to mitigate its impact.  
 

3.2 “Having due regard” means that the authority should place an appropriate amount of weight on 
the need to prevent people being drawn into terrorism when we consider all the other factors 
relevant to how they carry out their usual functions. 
 

3.3 The Act further sets out statutory guidance which requires local authorities to, amongst other 
things, ensure elected members are engaged in Prevent, establish or make use of an existing 
local multi-agency group to agree risk, co-ordinate and monitor Prevent activity and  use the 
Counter Terrorism Local Profile to begin to assess the risk of individuals being drawn into 
terrorism. 
 

 National and local position 
 

3.4 The national threat level remains SEVERE meaning an attack is highly likely. The level was 
briefly raised to CRITICAL following the Manchester and Parsons Green attacks. There have 
been five incidents in 2017 resulting in 14 killed and more than 180 injured. 
 

3.5 The main influencing factor to extremism is via the internet, along with vulnerable individuals, 
particularly those with mental health issues. Vulnerability to extremist narratives online 
continues to be flagged as a radicalising factor across both islamist extremists and XRW 
referrals.  
 

3.6 Bromley enjoys low levels of community tension, however tensions were elevated following 
specific incidents including gang violence, and after the London Bridge terror attacks. Bromley 
has relatively low levels of hate crime and no emerging trends have been highlighted. 
 

 Prevent activity in Bromley 
 

3.7 A Prevent Case Management panel is now well established with core members from adults and 
children’s safeguarding, mental health, education, community Safety and police. PCM is a 
national framework which aims to help prevent and disrupt all extremist activity by focussing on 
individuals and institutions of concern. The framework allows action to be taken to mitigate the 
risk of extremist activity, including by referral into the Channel programme where appropriate. 

 
 Workshop to Raise Awareness of Prevent (WRAP) 

 
3.8 WRAP is a Home Office initiative which is delivered to front line practitioners to raise awareness 

of Prevent and ensure staff are aware of the referral pathways.  
 

3.9 A number of train the trainer events were also arranged in order that partners such as schools 
and healthcare organisations were able to ensure their safeguarding leads could deliver the 
WRAP within their own organisations.  
 

Page 119



  

4 

 Priorities going forward 
 

3.10 Bromley continues to be classified as a non-priority borough and as such receives no financial 
support to deliver a Prevent programme. Accordingly, the following priorities for this borough 
over the next 12 months are recommended:  
 

 Maintain a robust Prevent Case Management board 

 Maintain close working with local SO15 officers 

 Attend monthly London Prevent Network meeting to keep abreast of regional 
developments 

 Raise awareness of Prevent through the delivery of WRAP  

 Contribute to consultation process on the implementation of the Dovetail project, which is 
looking to place a greater responsibility on local authorities to deal with PCM and 
CHANNEL referrals  

 Update the Prevent Action Plan to reflect achievable outcomes over the next 12 months 

 Provide engagement session for all new elected Members following the local elections in 
May 2018  
 

4. IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS AND CHILDREN  
 

4.1 Some crimes need little persuasion, for example gangs, drugs, organised crime and terrorism.  
The real masterminds don’t put themselves in harm’s way, they convince and bully others to do 
so. They may find someone who is impressionable or vulnerable and needs help and abuses 
that, turning them to crime, often for the first time. When a vulnerable person does get involved 
with gangs or other crime types, they may genuinely see this relationship as a good thing and a 
means to fit in, or a chance to take control of their life, without seeing where it is heading. 
 

4.2 Safeguarding children and vulnerable adults is an overriding professional duty for health and 
social care practitioners, and all LBB employees. Prevent is safeguarding and works in the pre-
criminal space, before someone has committed a substantial crime and is about safeguarding 
those who may be susceptible to radicalisation. 
 

4.3  Local authorities are expected to ensure appropriate front line staff have a good understanding 
of Prevent and are able to recognise vulnerability to being drawn into terrorism. Referral 
pathways, which exist for concerns about children, vulnerable adults and adults working with 
children, are also available to raise concerns under Prevent. 

 
5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

 
5.1  In line with Government guidance, the Councils policy is to ensure the authority has due regard 

to the need to prevent people from being drawn into terrorism.  
 

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 There is no specific funding available to implement the Prevent duty, however there is a budget 
of £8.3k within Community Safety that is available for small items of expenditure if required as 
well as existing staff time.  

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 A local authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to prevent  
people from being drawn into terrorism.  

 

Page 120



  

5 

Non-Applicable Sections: Personnel and Procurement Implications 

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact 
Officer) 

[Title of document and date] 

 

Page 121



This page is left intentionally blank



  

1 

Report No. 
ES18017 
 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 
 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: EXECUTIVE 
 

FOR PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY BY PUBLIC PROTECTION 
AND SAFETY POLICY COMMITTEE ON 6TH MARCH AND 
 
RENEWAL AND RECREATION POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ON 27TH MARCH 

Date:  28th March 2018 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 
 

Executive Non-Executive 
 

Key Non-Key 
 

Title: ASSET RECOVERY INCENTIVISATION SCHEME (ARIS) 
 

Contact Officer: Rob Vale, Head of Trading Standards & Community Safety 
Tel: 020 8313 4785    E-mail:  Rob.Vale@bromley.gov.uk 
 

Chief Officer: Nigel Davies, Executive Director of Environment & Community Services 

Ward: All 

 
1. Reason for report 

1.1  This report provides Members with details of a Proceeds of Crime Investigation which has 
resulted in an award of monies to the local authority and requests release of the funds.  

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 

2.1 Executive are asked to  

a)  approve the drawdown of the full amount of £144,388 held in Central Contingency and 
allocate to the two service areas as set out in 3.14. 

b)  approve the carry forward of the unspent balance of £132,758 received under this Proceeds 
of Crime confiscation.  

2.2 Members of the Scrutiny Committees are asked to note and comment on the content of this 
report. 

Page 123

Agenda Item 15a



  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 
1. Summary of Impact: In this case a private landlord was providing residential properties to a 

number of low income earners and collecting the housing benefit from them for accommodation 
which was below the required living standards.   

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Existing Policy:   
 

2. BBB Priority: Children and Young People Safe Bromley Supporting Independence Vibrant, 
Thriving Town Centres Healthy Bromley :  

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: 144,388 
 

2. Ongoing costs: N/A as one-off funding 
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: Trading Standards and Planning Enforcement  
 

4. Total current budget for this head:  £84.6k and £59.8k 
 

5. Source of funding: Asset Recovery Incentivisation Scheme (ARIS) 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional):  3 FTEs (Planning Enforcement 
                 7 FTEs (Trading Standards) 
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: N/A   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Statutory Requirement:  
 

2. Call-in: Not Applicable:   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. N/A   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): NA 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? No 

2.        Summary of Ward Councillors comments:  N/A 

Page 124



  

3 

 
3. COMMENTARY 
 
3.1 A significant proportion of crime is committed simply to make money.  For those who commit 

crime, traditionally the punishment was either a community sentence or a term of 
imprisonment. Regardless of the punishment, criminals could still often profit from their 
criminal actions. The Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (POCA) deals with the movement and use 
of criminal property and one of its main purposes is to disrupt criminal behaviour and remove 
the benefit obtained from crime. 

 
3.2  The Asset Recovery Incentivisation Scheme (ARIS) was set up in 2006 and provides a 

mechanism for returning to law enforcement agencies a proportion of the assets they recover.   
 
3.3 The objective of the scheme is to provide law enforcement agencies with incentives to boost 

asset recovery as a contribution to reducing crime and delivering justice by giving them a 
direct stake in the proceeds they generate from their work.  Home Office rules encourage the 
agencies to reinvest incentive monies in asset recovery activities or increased financial 
investigation capacity, but the funds can be used for a number of purposes in the context of 
reducing harm.  The agency is required to account for their spending and make a return to the 
Home Office confirming the amount of monies received, and how it has been spent. 

 
3.4 Monies paid over by the defendant to satisfy a confiscation order are payable to Her Majesty’s 

Court and Tribunal Service (HMCTS) who are given responsibility for administering distribution 
of the recovered sum and much of the enforcement process if payment is not made. 

 
3.5 Once sums are paid, HMCTS will divide the sum paid in accordance with the Court’s Order.  

This mechanism is known as incentivisation. In relation to most confiscations this is as follows: 
Central Government: 50% 
Prosecutor: 18.75% (in this case Planning) 
Investigator: 18.75% (the Trading Standards AFI) 
Enforcement (HMCTS and MOJ): 12.5%. 

 
3.6 London Borough Bromley’s Trading Standards team employs an Accredited Financial 

Investigator (AFI) who has been accredited with extended investigative powers that allow the 
officer to routinely carry out financial investigations.  The Head of Trading Standards & 
Community Safety, accredited as a Senior Appropriate Officer (SAO) is responsible for 
ensuring enquiries are conducted proportionately and necessarily. Typically, any rogue trader 
case will attract a financial investigation in order that recipients of criminal gains are identified 
and considered for prosecution. 

 
3.7 In this case the AFI was engaged on a part-time basis by the Planning Enforcement team in 

conjunction with  legal services to conduct a confiscation investigation into a defendant’s 
criminal lifestyle following conviction for breaches of the Town and Country Planning Act 1991. 

 
3.8 The prosecution involved a private landlord providing housing to people on low income.  The 

properties being provided were below the standards required by planning law and had been 
converted without planning authority from a commercial premises and one residential property 
into five one bedroomed flats.  They would not have been provided planning permission at the 
time of construction, or retrospectively without significant changes.    

 
3.9 The tenants in those properties were not acting illegally by claiming housing benefit.  But the 

landlord was providing residential properties to a number of low income earners and collecting 
the housing benefit from them for accommodation below required living standards, and it 
should not have existed.  This is considered benefit obtained through criminal conduct, i.e. 

Page 125



  

4 

money obtained as a result of committing a criminal offence and therefore formed part of a 
confiscation investigation, and any subsequent Confiscation Order. 
 

3.10 In June 2016 the Court granted a Confiscation Order against the defendant for the sum of 
£144,388 This amount is the balance remaining, following  payments made to Central 
Government and the Ministry of Justice. The court ordered the monies to be paid within six 
months, however the defendant in this case returned to court on several occasions and was 
granted extensions to the date. Several payments were made in the interim, totalling £26,117  

 
3.11 A final enforcement hearing took place at Westminster Magistrates Court on 16th January 2018 

where the defendant was warned he faced prison if the balance was not settled. A final 
payment of £118,271 was subsequently made.  

 
3.12 This is the first time the Trading Standards AFI has investigated a case on behalf of another 

enforcement team within the local authority. Further planning cases have been highlighted as 
potentially qualifying for investigations under the Proceeds of Crime Act. 

 
3.13 A sum of £11,630 has been used to fund the work of a part time financial abuse/scams officer 

during 2017/18.  
 
3.14 It is proposed to split the remaining balance of £132,758 between the two services as follows:- 
   

 

Service Actual Spend Proposed Split Total

2017/18 2018/19

£ £ £

Planning Enforcement 0 84,633 84,633

Trading Standards 11,630 48,125 59,755

Total 11,630 132,758 144,388
 

 
3.15 Trading Standards plan to use the funds in the next financial year to continue funding the 

financial abuse/scams work for a further 12 months, increase the hours of the AFI for a further 
12 months, invest in essential training for officers to tackle web based fraud which will include 
the need to purchase stand-alone IT equipment, and purchase additional materials to raise 
awareness of the trading standards rapid response service which investigates rogue trader 
activity.  

 
3.16 There is also a scoping exercise in place to increase intelligence capacity for on-line 

investigations with the possibility of employing a specialist investigator for a short term to 
prepare an intelligence product identifying on-line criminal activity causing consumer 
detriment. There are also plans to increase Scams and Doorstep Crime awareness by 
providing sufficient material for a 2 year strategy.     

 
3.17 Planning Enforcement proposes to use the confiscation monies to increase work in the area of 

POCA and other planning enforcement related matters. Officers have currently identified 
further possible planning enforcement cases where the team and legal services consider a 
successful prosecution may be obtained, this will allow for future joint working with Trading 
Standards.  

 Conditions of Use 

3.18 Local Authorities are not governed by the same accounting rules as government departments 
and are able to carry forward unspent monies. The Home Office continually monitors how 
ARIS monies are spent and a report is submitted to the Criminal Finances Board which is 
chaired by the Minister for Security and Economic Crime. This is to ensure that the monies are 

Page 126



  

5 

actually used to assess issues of propriety and regularity. All asset recovery agencies are 
therefore expected to account of the use of the incentive payments at the end of each financial 
year. 

3.19 It is expected that incentive payments should be used to further drive up performance on asset 
recovery and, where appropriate, to fund local crime fighting priorities for the benefit of the 
community.  

 
3.20 Information will be required as follows: 
 

o details of how funds have been used  
o for each initiative/project how much has been allocated 
o how has this contributed to improving asset recovery performance, or tackling crime   
o what are the particular asset recovery outcomes 

 
4 POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 The outcomes contribute to the Building a Better Bromley priorities, the Safer Bromley 
Partnership Strategy. 

5 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The Council has been awarded a sum of £144,388 as part of the Asset Recovery 
Incentivisation Scheme. A sum of £26,117 was received earlier in the year and £11,600 has 
been spent. The remaining £118,271 is expected to be received before the end of the year and 
Home Office officials have confirmed that there are no restrictions on Local Authorities being 
able to carry forward any unspent balances. 

5.2 This report is requesting approval to drawdown the full sum held in the Central Contingency 
and to seek approval to carry forward the unspent balance of £132,758 to 2018/19.  

5.3 The table below provides a breakdown of the allocation and spend between Portfolios: - 

  

R & R Portfolio PPS Portfolio

Planning Enforcement Trading Standards Total

£'000 £'000 £'000

Allocation of funding 84.6 59.8 144.4

Spent to date 0.0 11.6 11.6

Unspent balance (carry forward request) 84.6 48.2 132.8  

6. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 Trading Standards propose to use some of the confiscation monies to increase work to protect 
vulnerable residents from scams and financial abuse, by increasing the hours of an officer who 
is currently working 16 hours a week. It also proposed that the AFI who is currently part time 
increases her hours for 12 months. This may allow for future additional POCA investigations 
on behalf of Planning.  

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 Due to the unpredictable nature of ARIS the Government has not provided any specific 
guidance on its use. However, it has indicated that ARIS money should be reinvested in asset 
recovery work and fund local enforcement and prevention activities.    

Page 127



  

6 

Non-Applicable 
Sections: 

[List non-applicable sections here] 

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact 
Officer) 

 

 

Page 128



Report No: 
CSD18048 

              London Borough of Bromley 
 
  PART ONE - PUBLIC 

 

 

   

Decision Maker: PUBLIC PROTECTION AND SAFETY PDS COMMITTEE  

Date:  6th March 2018 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 
 

Non-Executive 
 

Non-Key 
 

Title: WORK PROGRAMME  

Contact Officer: Stephen Wood, Democratic Services Officer 
Tel:  020 8313 4316   E-mail:  stephen.wood@bromey.gov.uk 

Chief Officer: Mark Bowen, Director of Corporate Services 

Ward: All 

 
1. Reason for report 

1.1 Members are asked to review the Committee’s Work Programme. Members are free to 
contribute suggestions for future items for the Work Programme.  

 
1.2    Members should note that the Work Programme is fluid and subject to change as required.  
________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 That the Committee: 
 

(1)    Notes the current Work Programme.  
 
(2)    The Committee comments on any matters that it thinks should be incorporated into 

the Work Programme going forward. 
 
(4)   The Committee puts forward suggestions for Member visits.   
     
 
    
 

 
 

 
 

Page 129

Agenda Item 16



Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Existing Policy: Committees normally receive a report on the Work Programme 
and Contracts Register at each meeting.   

 

2. BBB Priority: Excellent Council Safer Bromley  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: No Cost  
 

2. Ongoing costs: Not Applicable:  
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: Democratic Services 
 

4. Total current budget for this head: £343,810  
 

5. Source of funding:  2017/2018 revenue budget 
 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Staff 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional):  8 posts (6.87fte) 
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: Maintaining the Committee’s Work 
Programme normally takes approximately an hour per meeting, but is fluid and may need to ne 
modified as required. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: None:  
 

2. Call-in: Not Applicable: This report does not involve an executive decision. 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected):  This report is primarily for the 
benefit of Committee Members. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? No  
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:  N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 Page 130



3. COMMENTARY 
 

Forward Programme 
 
3.1   The table at Appendix 1 sets out the Public Protection and Safety PDS Forward 

Work Programme. The Committee is invited to comment on the schedule and to 
propose any changes it considers appropriate. The Committee is also invited to 
make suggestions with regard to Member visits.   

 
3.2 Other reports may come into the programme - schemes may be brought forward 

or there may be references from other Committees, the Portfolio Holder or the 
Executive. 

   
4. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Each PDS Committee is responsible for setting its own work programme. 

 

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact 
Officer) 

Previous Work Programme Reports and Minutes of 
the previous meeting. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 131



 
PP&S PDS COMMITTEE - FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME  

PUBLIC PROTECTION AND SAFETY PDS—27th September 2017 
 

Matters Arising 

Chairman’s Update 

Police Update 

Portfolio Holder Update  

Presentation from a representative of the Borough Gangs’ Team--Acting DCI 
Charles Clare   

Presentation from Sarah Armstrong (Say No 2 Knives) on Knife Crime and Stop and 
Search. 

Discussion around the London Assembly Police and Crime Commission Report 

Food Safety Service Plan—2017-2018 

Capital Programme Monitoring Report-1st Quarter—2017-2018 

Trading Standards Service Plan 

Dogs and Pest Control Contracts  

Expenditure on Consultants 

Work Programme, Contracts Register, and Risk Register  

PUBLIC PROTECTION AND SAFETY PDS—21st November 2017 
 

Matters Arising 

Chairman’s Update 

Police Update 

Budget Monitoring 

Portfolio Holder Update  

Guidance for Noise Control on Construction Sites Controlled Under the Control of 
Pollution Act 

MOPAC Update  

Counter Terrorism/Prevent Update 

Presentation from London Fire Brigade—including Impact Factor and Tower Blocks 

Report on CCTV Procurement Strategy 

Report on Domestic Violence and VAWG Services 

Report on Gate Review for Mortuary Service 

Work Programme, Contracts Register and Risk Register 

PUBLIC PROTECTION AND SAFETY PDS—16th January 2018 
 

Matters Arising 

Chairman’s Update 

Police Update 

Portfolio Holder Update (TBC) 

Contracts Register Report 

Capital Programme Monitoring Report 

Draft Budget Report  

Update report on Emergency Planning and Business Continuity Service 

Crime and Disorder in the night time economy    (Verbal Update) 

Presentation on Town Centre Policing and Public Safety, including the Night Time 
Economy 

MOPAC update report 

Appendix 1 
 

Page 132



Presentation from  London Probation Services 

Work Programme 

PUBLIC PROTECTION AND SAFETY PDS—6th March 2018 
 

Matters Arising 

Chairman’s Update 

Police Update 

Budget Monitoring 

Portfolio Holder Update  

Report on Adults Who Mis-Use Drugs 

LAS Presentation 

Report on Asset Recovery Incentivisation Scheme 

Prevent Update Report 

Presentation from Bromley Youth Council 

Trading Standards Update on Under Age Sales 

SLaM Update 

Contract Register Report 

Work Programme  

PUBLIC PROTECTION AND SAFETY PDS—3rd July 2018 
 

Enforcement Activity Report 

Matters Arising 

Chairman’s Update 

Police Update 

Portfolio Holder Update 

Work Programme 

Budget Monitoring 

Environmental Protection Update with Portfolio Plan  

PUBLIC PROTECTION AND SAFETY PDS—27th September 2018 
 

PUBLIC PROTECTION AND SAFETY PDS—4th December 2018 
 

PUBLIC PROTECTION AND SAFETY PDS—30th January 2019 
 

PUBLIC PROTECTION AND SAFETY PDS—21st March 2019 
 

POSSIBLE FUTURE PRESENTATIONS and AGENDA ITEMS 

Ministry of Justice’s New Employment Programme  

Housing Enforcement 

Trading Standards work around estate and letting agencies 

Updated MOPAC report  

POSSIBLE FUTURE VISITS 

             

Page 133



This page is left intentionally blank


	Agenda
	4 MINUTES OF THE PUBLIC PROTECTION AND SAFETY PDS COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON 16th JANUARY 2018
	Minutes

	5 MATTERS ARISING
	9 ADULTS WHO MISUSE DRUGS--THE FINDINGS OF A HEALTH NEEDS ASSESSMENT IN BROMLEY 2017
	Enc. 1 for Adults who misuse drugs - the findings of a health needs assessment in Bromley 2017
	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	INTRODUCTION
	CAUSES AND PATTERNS OF DRUGS MISUSE
	EPIDEMIOLOGY OF DRUG MISUSE
	Crime Survey for England and Wales
	Prevalence Estimates- Bromley compared to region and nation
	Prevalence of over the counter and prescription only medication
	New Psychoactive Substances and Club Drugs
	Treatment population
	Not in treatment population

	IMPACT ON HEALTH AND WELLBEING
	Mental health (dual diagnosis)
	Morbidity: Blood Borne Infections
	Hospital admissions
	Mortality

	SOCIOECONOMIC IMPACT
	The social return on investment in local drug treatment services
	Crime
	Health and Care Costs
	Children and families
	Social Services, Housing and Benefits

	THE TREATMENT AND MANAGEMENT OF DRUG MISUSE
	Treatment services in Bromley
	Treatment pathways
	Intervention Type and Setting Delivered
	Treatment outcomes
	Prison release and transfer to treatment
	Early unplanned exits
	Residential rehabilitation

	WHAT THIS MEANS FOR THE RESIDENTS OF BROMLEY
	APPENDIX
	Data sources and definitions
	References



	14a CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING--3rd QUARTER 2017/18 & CAPITAL STRATEGY 2018 TO 2022
	Enc. 1 for Capital Programme Monitoring - 3rd Quarter 2017/18 & Capital Strategy 2018 to 2022
	APPENDIX A&B- CAPITAL PROG.


	14b BUDGET MONITORING
	Enc. 1 for Budget Monitoring

	14c PREVENT UPDATE REPORT
	15a ASSET RECOVERY INCENTIVISATION SCHEME   (ARIS)
	16 WORK PROGRAMME

